

# Rough analysis of two scale systems

Arnaud Debussche, Martina Hofmanová

# ▶ To cite this version:

Arnaud Debussche, Martina Hofmanová. Rough analysis of two scale systems. 2024. hal-04846233

# HAL Id: hal-04846233 https://hal.science/hal-04846233v1

Preprint submitted on 18 Dec 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Rough analysis of two scale systems

Arnaud Debussche<sup>1</sup> and Martina Hofmanová<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Univ Rennes, CNRS, IRMAR - UMR 6625, F-35000 Rennes, France. arnaud.debussche@ens-rennes.fr <sup>2</sup>Fakultät für Mathematik, Universität Bielefeld, Postfach 10 01 31, D-33501 Bielefeld, Germany. hofmanova@math.uni-bielefeld.de

December 18, 2024

#### Abstract

We address a slow-fast system of coupled three dimensional Navier–Stokes equations where the fast component is perturbed by an additive Brownian noise. By means of the rough path theory, we establish the convergence in law of the slow component towards a Navier–Stokes system with an Itô–Stokes drift and a rough path driven transport noise. This gives an alternative, more general and direct proof to [9]. Notably, the limiting rough path is identified as a geometric rough path, which does not necessarily coincide with the Stratonovich lift of the Brownian motion.

Keywords: Navier-Stokes equations, transport noise, Itô-Stokes drift, rough paths

# Contents

1	Introduction	<b>2</b>
	1.1 Summary of main results and ideas	3
2	Preliminaries	6
	2.1Function spaces, operators and noise2.2Rough path theory	6 7
3	Rough formulation of the problem	9
4	Detailed presentation of main results	12
5	Ergodicity of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process	14
6	Convergence of the rough driver	16
7	Convergence of the Itô–Stokes drift	22
	7.1 Uniform estimate of $u^{\varepsilon}$	22
	7.2 Uniform estimate of $w^{\varepsilon}$	22
	7.3 Uniform estimate of $r^{\varepsilon}$	23
	7.4 Convergence of $r^{\varepsilon}$	23
8	Tightness and passage to the limit	<b>25</b>
	8.1 Uniform estimate of $u^{\varepsilon, \natural}$	25
	8.2 Uniform time regularity of $u^{\varepsilon}$	28
	8.3 Passage to the limit	29

# 1 Introduction

Fluid models have numerous applications, in particular in the modeling of climate, oceans, atmosphere etc. These systems are often described mathematically by a system of partial differential equations. Increasingly, we recognize the importance of random effects influencing these phenomena and the necessity of incorporating such effects for both qualitative and quantitative predictions.

In [1, 27], in a similar spirit as [28], the classical derivation of fluid models from Reynold Transport Theorem has been revisited. A stochastic component was added to the velocity field to represent small scales that are challenging to account for in numerical simulations, leading to the derivation of a Stochastic Reynolds Transport Theorem. Applying this to basic physical balance laws yields stochastic versions of fluid equations, known as Location Uncertainty (LU) models. Interestingly, these equations contain a transport noise and an additional advection term induced by the noise, referred to as the Itô-Stokes drift. Other derivations of stochastic fluid equations have also been proposed. For instance, in [25], a stochastic velocity component was introduced, and a variational principle was employed to derive a stochastic version of the Euler equations as critical points of a stochastic energy. This approach, known as the SALT model – Stochastic Advection by Lie Transport – also incorporates transport noise but differs from LU models in that it preserves more geometric quantities. Importantly, in both models, the noise is interpreted in the Stratonovich sense.

From a mathematical perspective, the stochastic Navier–Stokes equations with transport noise represent a timely and active area of research. These equations were first studied in the seminal work [5] and have recently gained further attention. A significant discovery was made in [19], where it was shown that one can construct sequences of noise covariance operators such that the noise vanishes in the limit, while the Itô–Stratonovich correction persists. The limiting deterministic equation retains a trace of the vanishing noise, manifesting as an additional elliptic operator termed enhanced viscosity. This phenomenon has been further explored in [12, 15].

On another front, multiscale approaches have been developed to model small and large scales differently. For instance, in [26], small-scale terms in the equations were neglected and replaced by noise, though this analysis was restricted to finite-dimensional models. Inspired by this, [16, 17] examined a multiscale system of Euler equations, proving convergence to the Euler equations with transport noise. Similarly, in this work, we study a slow-fast system parameterized by a small scaling parameter  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ :

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = A u^{\varepsilon} + b(u^{\varepsilon} + v^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon}), \tag{1.1}$$

$$dv^{\varepsilon} = Av^{\varepsilon}dt + b(u^{\varepsilon} + v^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})dt + \varepsilon^{-1}Cv^{\varepsilon}dt + \varepsilon^{-1}Q^{1/2}dW,$$
(1.2)

where A, C are linear operators, b a nonlinear term, and the second equation is driven by a cylindrical Wiener process W on some probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{P})$ , with a covariance operator Q. Additional assumptions on the operators and parameters will be presented in Section 2.1.

Our primary goal is to rigorously analyze the asymptotic behavior of system (1.1), (1.2) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , focusing on the interactions between the large- and small-scale components under stochastic perturbations. In particular, we derive the limit of (1.1) as a stochastic dynamics driven by a certain transport noise, along with the Itô–Stokes drift. The limiting behavior we obtain emphasizes the role of stochastic transport noise as an effective model reduction for systems where large-scale dynamics are influenced by fast, highly oscillatory components.

A key example is the coupled Navier–Stokes system:

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} + (u^{\varepsilon} + v^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon} + \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \nu \Delta u^{\varepsilon}, \qquad \operatorname{div} u^{\varepsilon} = 0, \tag{1.3}$$

$$dv^{\varepsilon} + (u^{\varepsilon} + v^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla v^{\varepsilon} dt + \nabla q^{\varepsilon} dt = \nu \Delta v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{-1} C v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{-1} d\mathcal{W}, \qquad \operatorname{div} v^{\varepsilon} = 0, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $v^{\varepsilon}$  represent velocity fields on a bounded domain  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ . The pressure fields  $p^{\varepsilon}$  and  $q^{\varepsilon}$  ensure the validity of the divergence-free conditions div  $u^{\epsilon} = \text{div } v^{\epsilon} = 0$ , and  $\mathcal{W}$  is a Wiener process on  $[L^2(\mathcal{O})]^3$ . The parameter  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  denotes a small scaling, and  $\nu > 0$  is the viscosity. These equations are supplemented with boundary conditions which can be Dirichlet or, if  $\mathcal{O}$  is the torus, periodic. For simplicity, we consider periodic boundary conditions. Therefore, (1.3), (1.4) is of the

form (1.1), (1.2) provided A is the Stokes operator, b is the Navier–Stokes nonlinearity, and  $Q^{1/2}$  is the covariance operator of the divergence-free part of  $\mathcal{W}$ . We refer to Section 2.1 for further details.

This system represents a decomposition of the Navier–Stokes equations into a slow-varying, largescale component  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and a fast-varying, small-scale component  $v^{\varepsilon}$ . The fast component is driven by a large additive stochastic noise and, for the particularly relevant case of C = - Id, it experiences a large friction, which can also be interpreted as a scale separation. The noise amplitude is chosen such that, formally, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , the fast component  $v^{\varepsilon}$  converges to the white noise  $Q^{1/2}dW$ . Consequently, the term  $(v^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla)u^{\varepsilon}$  in the large-scale equation (1.3) is expected to converge to a transport noise. However, as we shall demonstrate, this formal reasoning is incomplete due to the emergence of the Itô–Stokes drift which arises in the limiting system.

In [16, 17], the non viscous case  $-\nu = 0$  – was studied and the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$  established thanks to a Wong-Zakai type argument. It has to be noted that in [16, 17], the Itô–Stokes drift is not present due to an extra assumption on the noise needed in their argument.

The asymptotic behavior of the system (1.1), (1.2) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  was recently studied in [9]. The analysis in [9] is based on the perturbed test function method introduced in [29], which has since been widely used in the literature. The approach of [9] relies on several assumptions: certain regularity of the operator Q, symmetry and certain smoothing properties of C (as e.g.  $C = -(-\Delta)^{\gamma/2}$  for some  $\gamma > 1/4$ ), and commutativity of C and Q. Under these conditions, they prove that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  converges in law to a solution of

$$du = Audt + b(u, u)dt + b(\bar{r}, u) dt + b((-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2} \circ dW, u),$$

where  $\bar{r}$  denotes the Itô–Stokes velocity as given in (1.10) below. Particularly, the stochastic integral is understood in Stratonovich's sense.

In contrast to the approach in [9], our work introduces a more direct method to address the limiting behavior as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . This approach allows us to significantly relax the assumptions on the operator C, encompassing physically relevant cases such as C = - Id. Moreover, we do not require C to be symmetric, nor do we assume it commutes with Q. Rather surprisingly, in such situations, the stochastic integral in the limit equation is no longer Stratonovich; instead, a non-trivial finite-variation perturbation arises. It is defined explicitly in terms of the operators C and Q. We interpret the resulting stochastic integral within the framework of rough paths. More specifically, our analysis is grounded in the theory of unbounded rough drivers, introduced in [3] and further developed in [10, 14, 21, 22]. We extend this theory to accommodate infinite-dimensional rough paths, which may have broader applications. As is typical in rough path theory, our approach imposes stricter regularity conditions on Q compared to purely probabilistic methods such as those in [9].

In a parallel development, certain concepts from the present article were integrated with those from [9] and further advanced to establish anomalous and total dissipation in passive scalar equations and Navier–Stokes equations advected by solutions to the randomly forced Navier–Stokes equations, as presented in [23].

#### 1.1 Summary of main results and ideas

We now provide a brief outline of our method. Unlike the approach taken in [9], we introduce a decomposition of the form  $v^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}$  where the components evolve according to the following system of equations:

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = A u^{\varepsilon} + b(u^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon}), \qquad (1.5)$$

$$dw^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-1} C w^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{-1/2} Q^{1/2} dW, \qquad w_0^{\varepsilon} = 0, \tag{1.6}$$

$$\partial_t r^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-1} C r^{\varepsilon} + A(\varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}) + b(u^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}), \qquad r_0^{\varepsilon} = v_0^{\varepsilon}.$$
(1.7)

We do not present the details of the construction of solutions for this system at each fixed level of  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ , as these can be derived using classical techniques similar to those in [9]. Specifically, the rescaled Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process  $w^{\varepsilon}$  exists on any probability space that includes a Q-Wiener process  $Q^{1/2}W$ , and is uniquely determined and measurable with respect to  $Q^{1/2}W$ . Moreover, it possesses a unique invariant measure  $\mu$ , which is independent of  $\varepsilon$ . See [7, 8] for further details. Additionally, for each fixed  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  there exists a probabilistically and analytically weak solution to the system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7). In other words, for every  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  there exists a probability space  $(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon})$ , a *Q*-Wiener process  $Q^{1/2}W^{\varepsilon}$  and processes  $u^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}$  that solve (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) in the analytically weak sense. The proof of existence is based on a Galerkin approximation combined with the method of stochastic compactness, as was employed, for instance, in [13] for the stochastic Navier–Stokes equations.

It is important to note that in the framework of probabilistically weak solutions, both the probability space and the Wiener process form part of the solution itself. This distinguishes probabilistically weak solutions from probabilistically strong solutions, where the probabilistic elements are specified in advance. A typical example of the latter is the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process defined by (1.6), as discussed above. In general, the existence of probabilistically strong solutions can only be ensured for problems where uniqueness holds. One notable exception is the method of convex integration, which allows for the construction of non-unique solutions in various fluid dynamics models (see, for instance, [24]). However, for the system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7), the question of uniqueness remains unresolved and may not hold, as suggested by recent studies [2, 6, 24]. This uncertainty regarding uniqueness is the primary reason we focus our analysis on probabilistically weak solutions.

With the existence of solutions for each fixed level  $\varepsilon$ , our next objective is to reformulate the system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) in the framework of rough path theory, enabling us to derive estimates that are uniform in  $\varepsilon$ . This step is detailed in Section 3, following the introduction of the basic concepts of rough path theory in Section 2.2. For a detailed introduction to the theory of rough paths, we also refer the reader to the monograph [18].

Our ultimate aim is to handle the singularity in (1.5) caused by the term of order  $\varepsilon^{-1/2}$ . Specifically, this term is expected to converge to a stochastic integral, and we aim to quantify this convergence within the framework of rough paths. To this end, we introduce the process  $y^{\varepsilon}$ , defined by

$$\frac{dy^{\varepsilon}}{dt} = \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon}, \qquad y_0^{\varepsilon} = 0, \tag{1.8}$$

so that the critical term in (1.5) can be expressed as  $b(\varepsilon^{-1/2}w^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon}) = b(dy^{\varepsilon}/dt, u^{\varepsilon})$ . This is where rough path theory becomes crucial: although the time derivatives  $dy^{\varepsilon}/dt$  exhibit singular behavior and blow up as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , for instance in finite variation, it is still possible to establish their convergence in a suitably weaker sense. This convergence is nonetheless strong enough to allow us to pass to the limit in the entire system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7).

To this end, we define  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  as the canonical rough path lift of  $y^{\varepsilon}$  corresponding to the firstand second-order iterated integrals:

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} := \int_s^t \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_r^{\varepsilon} dr, \qquad Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} := \int_s^t (y_r^{\varepsilon} - y_s^{\varepsilon}) \otimes dy_r^{\varepsilon}, \qquad 0 \leqslant s < t \leqslant T.$$

This object is well-defined since  $y^{\varepsilon}$  exhibits sufficient regularity in time. Our goal is to establish that, in an appropriate rough path framework,  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  converges to a well-defined limit. More specifically, the convergence occurs in the space of  $\alpha$ -Hölder continuous rough paths, with values in a suitable Sobolev space, for every  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$ . Implicitly, the first component  $Y^{\varepsilon,1}$  is  $\alpha$ -Hölder continuous in time, while the second component  $Y^{\varepsilon,2}$  enjoys  $2\alpha$ -Hölder continuity in time, uniformly with respect to  $\varepsilon$ . Furthermore, we identify the limit rough path, which, rather surprisingly, deviates from the classical Stratonovich lift of a Wiener process.

Our first main result can be stated as follows, with the precise formulation – including the function spaces – presented in Theorem 4.1. The detailed proof can be found in Section 6.

**Theorem 1.1** 1. The canonical rough path lift  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  converges as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  a.s. in the sense of rough paths to a rough path lift  $(B^1, B^2)$  of the Wiener process  $B := (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}W$ . The second component is given in terms of Itô's stochastic integration as

$$B_{st}^2 := \int_s^t \delta B_{sr} \otimes dB_r + (t-s) \int w \otimes (-C)^{-1} w d\mu(w),$$

with  $\mu$  being the unique invariant measure of (1.6). Alternatively,  $B^2$  is given in terms of Stratonovich's stochastic integration as

$$B_{st}^2 = \int_s^t \delta B_{sr} \otimes \circ dB_r + (t-s)M,$$

where M is antisymmetric and explicitly defined in terms of operators C and Q.

2. If the operators C and Q commute and C is symmetric then M = 0 and  $(B^1, B^2)$  is the Stratonovich lift of B.

We observe that the rough path lift of B obtained in the limit generally differs from the Stratonovich lift via an antisymmetric finite variation part, denoted by M. Nevertheless, due to the antisymmetry of M, the lift  $(B^1, B^2)$  remains a geometric rough path, as expected for limits of canonical lifts of smooth paths. Under the assumptions of point 2., we recover the result of [9], albeit via a completely different approach. Moreover, if Q is the identity on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and -C is a  $d \times d$  matrix with strictly positive real parts of all eigenvalues, we not only recover but also extend the result of Theorem 3.8 in [18]. This earlier work examined the behavior of the zero-mass limit of physical Brownian motion in a magnetic field, where a nontrivial antisymmetric part M (in our notation) also emerged in the limit rough path. However, in that setting, the non-triviality of M stemmed from the non-symmetry of C. In contrast, our result demonstrates that M can still be nontrivial even when C is symmetric, provided C does not commute with Q.

The proof of Theorem 1.1 is based on the Kolmogorov continuity criterion for rough paths, specifically Theorem 3.3 in [18]. In particular, the convergence of the second component of the rough path is derived from ergodic properties of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process through a suitable variant of an ergodic theorem, which we develop in Section 5.

The result of Theorem 1.1 serves as the first essential building block for passing to the limit in the system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7). The second crucial aspect is identifying a suitable notion of solution to this system that remains stable under the convergence provided by Theorem 1.1. This notion must also be compatible with the uniform estimates on  $u^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , ensuring that it is possible to pass to the limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and identify the limit equation.

At this stage, we prefer not to discuss the precise definition of such a solution, as it requires a more sophisticated framework involving the theory of unbounded rough drivers, which can be understood as unbounded operator-valued rough paths. For further background on this formalism, we refer to [3], where unbounded rough drivers were originally introduced. Details related to our specific setting can be found in Section 2.2, and the derivation of the rough path formulation of (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) is discussed in Section 3. Specifically, in Definition 3.1, we introduce the concept of a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7). This is a solution that is weak in both analytical and probabilistic sense, and it satisfies the equations in the sense of rough paths.

Finally, we arrive to our second main result, which is formulated in Theorem 4.4. The proof of this result is presented in Section 7 and Section 8.

**Theorem 1.2** Let the initial values  $(u_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  and  $(v_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  be given so that both  $(u_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  and  $(\varepsilon^{1/2}v_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  are bounded in  $L^2$  uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ . There exist probabilistically weak rough path solutions  $(u^{\varepsilon}, (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}W^{\varepsilon})^1$  to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) that converge in law to a probabilistically weak rough path solution to

$$du = Audt + b(u, u)dt + b(\overline{r}, u) dt + b(*dB, u),$$
(1.9)

where  $\overline{r}$  is the so-called Itô-Stokes velocity

$$\bar{r} := \int (-C)^{-1} b(w, w) d\mu(w)$$
(1.10)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Recall that, for probabilistically weak solutions, the Brownian motion in (1.6) is part of the solution and hence it a priori depends on  $\varepsilon$ , leading to the replacement of W in (1.6) by the Brownian motion  $W^{\varepsilon}$ .

with  $\mu$  being the unique invariant measure of (1.6), and the stochastic integral with respect to B corresponds to the integration with respect to the rough path  $(B^1, B^2)$  obtained in Theorem 1.1.

As demonstrated, the rough path theory serves as a valuable tool for directly identifying the limit stochastic integral. This approach may hold potential interest for other problems in the context of approximation–diffusion.

Overall, our construction is implicitly probabilistic, and the convergence of the system (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) to (1.9) is established in law. On the one hand, the convergence of  $r^{\varepsilon}$  to the Itô–Stokes velocity, as proved in Section 7.4, leverages the ergodic properties of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process discussed in Section 5. On the other hand, the final passage necessitates a combination of probabilistic and rough path arguments. To this end, we develop a rough path variant of the stochastic compactness argument, which is based on the Skorokhod representation theorem. A purely rough path approach is hindered among others by the fact that the a priori uniform estimate for  $r^{\varepsilon}$  holds only in expectation (cf. Section 7.3). Consequently, the analysis of the rough path formulation of (1.5), particularly regarding the remainder estimates in Section 8.1 and the time regularity of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  in Section 8.2, becomes uniform only after taking expectation. This issue complicates the passage to the limit in Section 8.3 and requires careful consideration.

#### Acknowledgment

The research of M.H. was funded by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No. 949981). A.D. benefits from the support of the French government "Investissements d'Avenir" program integrated to France 2030, bearing the following reference ANR-11-LABX-0020-01 and is partially funded by the ANR project ADA.

# 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Function spaces, operators and noise

We first introduce the basic functional setting related to the Navier–Stokes equations. The reader is referred to [31, Chapter 2] for further details. Let H denote the  $L^2(\mathbb{T}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  space of vector fields of zero mean and divergence and let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be the associated inner product. By  $(e_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  we denote an orthonormal basis of H.  $\mathbb{P}$  denotes the Leray projection onto H which is defined by  $\mathbb{P}u = u - \nabla \Delta^{-1} \text{div}u$ . A is the Stokes operator  $Au = \nu \Delta \mathbb{P}$  for a viscosity constant  $\nu > 0$ . Here  $\Delta$  is the Laplace operator on  $\mathbb{T}^3$ , *i.e.* with periodic boundary conditions. By  $H^n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{R}$ , we denote the domains of fractional powers of -Aequipped with the graph norm

$$||u||_{H^n} := ||(-A)^{n/2}u||_H.$$

b is the Navier–Stokes nonlinearity

$$b(u,v) = -\mathbb{P}(u \cdot \nabla v).$$

It is a continuous operator  $H \times H \to H^{-\theta_0}$  as well as  $H \times H^1 \to H^{-\theta_0+1}$ , where  $\theta_0 > 1 + 3/2$ , as can be seen from its bilinearity combined with the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle b(u,v),w\rangle| &\leq \|u\|_{H} \|v\|_{H} \|\nabla w\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|u\|_{H} \|v\|_{H} \|w\|_{H^{\theta_{0}}}, \\ |\langle b(u,v),w\rangle| &\leq \|u\|_{H} \|\nabla v\|_{H} \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|u\|_{H} \|v\|_{H^{1}} \|w\|_{H^{\theta_{0}-1}}, \end{aligned}$$

which hold true for smooth divergence free vector fields u, v, w by the Sobolev embedding. We fix a  $\theta_0$  close to 1 + 3/2 throughout the paper. Moreover, the symmetry property  $\langle b(u, v), w \rangle = -\langle b(u, w), v \rangle$  leads to the cancellation  $\langle b(u, v), v \rangle = 0$ .

Next, we are concerned with assumptions on the operator C and we refer the reader to [11] for an introduction to semigroup theory. Let  $\sigma > 2 + 3/2$  be fixed throughout the paper, close to the given lower bound. The operator C is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup  $(e^{Ct})_{t\geq 0}$ 

on  $H^{\sigma}$ , -C is invertible and the adjoint  $C^*$  generates the adjoint semigroup  $(e^{C^*t})_{t \ge 0} = ((e^{Ct})^*)_{t \ge 0}$ . We assume that there exist  $\iota > 0$ ,  $\gamma \ge 0$  such that

$$\|e^{Ct}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma})} \lesssim e^{-\iota t},\tag{2.1}$$

$$\|(-C)^{-1}(e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma}; H^{\sigma})} \lesssim |t-s|^{1/2},$$
(2.2)

$$\|(-C)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma};H^{\sigma})} + \|(-C)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{-\theta_{0}};H^{-\theta_{0}})} \lesssim 1,$$
(2.3)

$$-\langle w, Cw \rangle \gtrsim \|w\|_{H^{\gamma}}^2. \tag{2.4}$$

An example of such an operator is given by  $C = -\rho(-A)^{\varsigma} + K$  for some  $\rho > 0$ ,  $\varsigma \ge 0$  and a suitable (lower order) perturbation K. For  $\gamma = 0$ , we can take  $\varsigma = 0$  and K a bounded operator on H of norm less than  $\rho$ . For  $\gamma > 0$ , we can take  $\varsigma \ge \gamma$  and K a bounded operator from  $H^{\tilde{\gamma}+\sigma}$  to  $H^{\sigma}$  with  $\tilde{\gamma} < \gamma$  so that C is a sectorial orperator in  $H^{\sigma}$  and (2.2) holds (see [20]). Under the additional assumption that  $K(-A)^{-\varsigma}$  is bounded from  $H^{\sigma}$  to itself and from  $H^{-\theta_0}$  to itself with sufficiently small norm, the other assumptions hold by perturbation.

We proceed with the assumptions on the noise. For foundations of infinite-dimensional stochastic analysis we refer to [8]. The driving process W is a cylindrical Wiener process on H and the covariance operator Q is symmetric, nonnegative and trace class and

$$\|Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H;H^{\sigma})} \lesssim 1, \tag{2.5}$$

where  $L_2(H; H^{\sigma})$  is the space of Hilbert–Schmidt operators from H to  $H^{\sigma}$ . Additionally, we make the slightly stronger assumption that there exists  $\vartheta \in (0, 1]$  so that

$$\|(-C)^{\vartheta}Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H;H^{\sigma})} \lesssim 1.$$
(2.6)

Finally, we have:

$$\|(-C)^{-\vartheta}(e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma};H^{\sigma})} \lesssim |t-s|^{\vartheta/2}.$$
(2.7)

Indeed, this is clearly true for  $\vartheta = 0$  so that this follows by interpolation with (2.2).

#### 2.2 Rough path theory

In this section, we introduce the formalism of the rough path theory and particularly the concept of unbounded rough driver introduced in [3]. For a thorough introduction to the theory of rough paths, we refer to [18].

Throughout the paper, T > 0 is given. For a path  $g : [0,T] \to E$  to a Banach space E we denote its increment by  $\delta g_{st} = g_t - g_s, \ 0 \leq s \leq t \leq T$ . Let  $\Delta_T := \{(s,t) \in [0,T]^2; s \leq t\}$ . For a two-index map  $g : \Delta_T \to E$  we define its increment by  $\delta g_{srt} = g_{st} - g_{sr} - g_{rt}$ .

For a Hilbert space  $E, E \otimes E$  denotes the completion of the algebraic tensor  $E \otimes_{alg} E$  with respect to the Hilbert–Schmidt norm. More precisely, we define the inner product on  $E \otimes_{alg} E$  by

$$\langle a \otimes_{\text{alg}} b, c \otimes_{\text{alg}} d \rangle_{E \otimes E} = \langle a, c \rangle_E \langle b, d \rangle_E$$

and  $E \otimes E$  is then the completion of  $E \otimes_{\text{alg}} E$  with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{E \otimes E} = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{E \otimes E}^{1/2}$ . This space can be idendified with the space of Hilbert–Schmidt operators  $L_2(E) := L_2(E; E)$ , see [30].

A two-index map  $\omega : \Delta_T \to [0, \infty)$  is called control if it is continuous, superadditive, i.e. for all  $s \leq r \leq t$ 

$$\omega(s,r) + \omega(r,t) \leqslant \omega(s,t),$$

and  $\omega(s,s) = 0$  for all  $s \in [0,T]$ .

Let  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ . We denote by  $C_2^{\alpha}([0, T]; E)$  the closure of the set of smooth two-index maps  $g : \Delta_T \to E$  with respect to the seminorm

$$\|g\|_{C_2^{\alpha}([0,T];E)} := \sup_{s,t \in \Delta_T, s \neq t} \frac{\|g_{st}\|_E}{|t-s|^{\alpha}}.$$

Taking closure of smooth functions guarantees separability and, consequently, the space  $C_2^{\alpha}([0,T]; E)$  is Polish.

Let  $p \ge 1$ . By  $C_2^{p-\text{var}}([0,T]; E)$  we denote the space of continuous two-index maps  $g: \Delta_T \to E$  with finite *p*-variation, i.e.

$$\|g\|_{C_2^{p-\operatorname{var}}([0,T];E)} := \sup_{\pi \in \mathcal{P}([0,T])} \left( \sum_{(s,t) \in \pi} \|g_{st}\|_E^p \right)^{1/p} < \infty$$

where the supremum is taken over all partitions  $\pi$  of [0, T].

By  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p-\text{var}}([0,T];E)$  we denote the space of two-index maps  $g: \Delta_T \to E$  such that there exists a covering  $\{I_k\}_k$  of [0,T] so that  $g \in C_2^{p-\text{var}}(I_k;E)$  for all k. We denote by  $C^{p-\text{var}}([0,T];E)$  the set of all paths  $g: [0,T] \to E$  so that  $\delta g \in C_2^{p-\text{var}}([0,T];E)$ . We note that  $C_2^{\alpha}([0,T];E) \subset C_2^{p-\text{var}}([0,T];E)$  provided  $p = 1/\alpha$ . Also, if  $g \in C_2^{p-\text{var}}([0,T];E)$  then

$$\omega_q(s,t) := \|g\|_{C_2^{p-\operatorname{var}}([s,t];E)}^p$$

is a control.

We proceed with a definition of a Hilbert space-valued rough path.

**Definition 2.1** Let  $\alpha \in (1/3, 1/2)$ . A continuous E-valued  $\alpha$ -rough path is a pair

$$Y = (Y^1, Y^2) \in C_2^{\alpha}([0, T]; E) \times C_2^{2\alpha}([0, T]; E \otimes E)$$

which satisfies Chen's relation

$$\delta Y_{srt}^1 = 0, \qquad \delta Y_{srt}^2 = Y_{sr}^1 \otimes Y_{rt}^1, \qquad 0 \leqslant s \leqslant r \leqslant t \leqslant T.$$

The space of continuous E-valued  $\alpha$ -rough paths is denoted by  $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; E)$ .

For the trace class covariance operator Q as defined above, the Q-Wiener process  $Q^{1/2}W$  is given by the formula  $Q^{1/2}W = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} Q^{1/2} e_k W_k$  for a sequence  $(W_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  of mutually independent real-valued Wiener processes. Its Stratonovich rough path lift reads as

$$\begin{split} W_{st}^{1} &:= (\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{st} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} Q^{1/2} e_{k} (\delta W_{k})_{st}, \\ W_{st}^{2} &:= \int_{s}^{t} (\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes \circ dQ^{1/2}W_{r} = \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{s}^{t} (\delta W_{k})_{sr} \circ dW_{\ell,r} (Q^{1/2}e_{k} \otimes Q^{1/2}e_{\ell}) \end{split}$$

and is a continuous  $H^{\sigma}$ -valued  $\alpha$ -rough path, see e.g. Exercise 3.16 in [18]. In particular, the regularity of the second component follows via Kolmogorov's continuity criterion (see e.g. Theorem 3.1 in [18]) together with Nelson's estimate for  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and Itô's isometry: rewriting the stochastic integral in Itô's form gives

$$W_{st}^2 = \int_s^t (\delta Q^{1/2} W)_{sr} \otimes dQ^{1/2} W_r + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} (t-s) (Q^{1/2} e_k \otimes Q^{1/2} e_k).$$

Here the Itô–Stratonovich correction is of finite variation in  $H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}$  by (2.5), whereas for the Itô stochastic integral it holds by the trace class assumption together with Itô's isometry

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} (\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes dQ^{1/2}W_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{s}^{t} \|(\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes Q^{1/2} \cdot \|_{L_{2}(H;H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma})}^{2} dr\right],$$

where

$$\|(\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes Q^{1/2} \cdot \|_{L_2(H; H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma})}^2 = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \|(\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes Q^{1/2} e_{\ell}\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^2$$

$$= \| (\delta Q^{1/2} W)_{sr} \|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \| Q^{1/2} e_{\ell} \|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} = \| Q^{1/2} \|_{L_{2}(H;H^{\sigma})}^{4} | (\delta W_{k})_{sr} |^{2}$$

and therefore by (2.5)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} (\delta Q^{1/2}W)_{sr} \otimes dQ^{1/2}W_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] \lesssim \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{E}|(\delta W_{k})_{sr}|^{2} dr \lesssim \int_{s}^{t} |r-s| dr \lesssim |t-s|^{2}.$$

Accordingly,

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|W_{st}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^p])^{1/p} \lesssim (\mathbb{E}[\|W_{st}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2])^{1/2} \lesssim |t-s|$$

Unbounded rough drivers can be seen as operator valued rough paths with values in the space of unbounded operators. In what follows, we work with a scale of Banach spaces  $(E^m, \|\cdot\|_m)_{m\in\mathbb{R}_+}$  such that  $E^{m+l}$  is continuously embedded in  $E^m$  for every  $m, l \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . We denote by  $E^{-m}$  the topological dual of  $E^m$ .

**Definition 2.2** Let  $\alpha \in (1/3, 1/2)$ . A continuous unbounded  $\alpha$ -rough driver with respect to the scale  $(E^m, \|\cdot\|_m)_{m \in \mathbb{R}_+}$  is a pair  $\mathbb{A} = (\mathbb{A}^1, \mathbb{A}^2)$  of two-index maps such that

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(E^{-m},E^{-(m+1)})} \lesssim |t-s|^{\alpha}, \qquad m \in [0,2],$$
(2.8)

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^2\|_{\mathcal{L}(E^{-m},E^{-(m+2)})} \lesssim |t-s|^{2\alpha}, \qquad m \in [0,1],$$
(2.9)

and Chen's relation holds true, i.e.

$$\delta \mathbb{A}_{srt}^1 = 0, \qquad \delta \mathbb{A}_{srt}^2 = \mathbb{A}_{rt}^1 \mathbb{A}_{sr}^1, \qquad 0 \leqslant s \leqslant r \leqslant t \leqslant T.$$
(2.10)

The above definition appeared already in a number of works, see e.g. [10], [14], [21], [22]. In our present setting we let  $E^m = H^m$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . In order to control the term leading to the Itô–Stokes drift in Section 8.1 below, we will make use of the bounds

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{1,*}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{H^3} |t-s|^{\alpha}, \tag{2.11}$$

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{2,*}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{H^{\theta_0+1}} |t-s|^{2\alpha}.$$
(2.12)

By Sobolev imbedding (2.11) follows from (2.8) with  $m \in (3/2, 2]$  but (2.12) does not follow from (2.9) and needs to be verified. We also note that it would suffice if (2.11), (2.12) were true with arbitrary positive exponents on their right hand sides, not necessarily  $\alpha$  and  $2\alpha$ , respectively.

# 3 Rough formulation of the problem

We intend to use rough path theory to formulate the equation (1.5) for  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , to obtain uniform estimates and to pass to the limit. In order to apply the theory of [10] and [21], we understand the noise term  $\varepsilon^{-1/2}b(w^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon})dt$  as an unbounded rough driver term of the form  $d\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon}u^{\varepsilon}$ . More precisely, we define  $y^{\varepsilon}$ via (1.8) so that we obtain formally

$$\varepsilon^{-1/2}b(w^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon})dt = -\mathbb{P}[dy^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon}], \qquad (3.1)$$

where  $\mathbb{P}$  denotes the Leray projection. We show in Theorem 4.1 below, that the so-defined process  $y^{\varepsilon}$ , lifted canonically to a rough path, converges to a certain rough path lift of the Brownian motion  $B = (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}W$  in the sense of rough paths  $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; H^{\sigma})$ . In other words, letting

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} := \delta y_{st}^{\varepsilon} = \delta \left( \int_0^{\cdot} \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_r^{\varepsilon} dr \right)_{st}, \qquad Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} := \int_s^t \delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \otimes dy_r^{\varepsilon}, \qquad 0 \leqslant s, t \leqslant T,$$

defines a rough path in the sense of Definition 2.1. In particular, under our assumptions on C, Q, it is an  $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; H^{\sigma})$ -valued rough path.

As the next step, we shall compose it additionally with the gradient and the Leray projection as required in (3.1), in order to define the corresponding unbounded rough driver  $\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon}$ . In order to guess the form for its second component, we first work formally and iterate the equation (1.5) into itself. Focusing only on the key terms containing  $w^{\varepsilon}$ , we obtain

$$\delta u_{st}^{\varepsilon} = \dots - \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{r}^{\varepsilon}] dr$$

$$= \dots - \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{s}^{\varepsilon}] dr + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}]] d\theta dr + \dots$$

$$= \dots - \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{s}^{\varepsilon}] dr + \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[\varepsilon^{-1/2} w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{s}^{\varepsilon}]] d\theta dr + u_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where we expect the remainder  $u_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  to be of order o(|t-s|) as a distribution with respect to the spatial variable. In the first term on the right hand side of (3.2) we recognize the first component of the unbounded rough driver and we define

$$\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\varphi := -\mathbb{P}[Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} \cdot \nabla\varphi]. \tag{3.3}$$

To identify the second component of the rough driver from the second term on the right hand side of (3.2), we first recall that by definition

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} = \int_s^t \delta\left(\int_0^\cdot \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_\theta^\varepsilon d\theta\right)_{sr} \otimes d\left(\int_0^\cdot \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_\theta^\varepsilon d\theta\right)_r = \int_s^t \int_s^r \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_\theta^\varepsilon d\theta \otimes \varepsilon^{-1/2} w_r^\varepsilon dr.$$

Consequently, we define for  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ 

$$(\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\varphi)(x) := A^2(Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2},\varphi)(x), \tag{3.4}$$

where the operator  $A^2$  does not depend on  $\varepsilon$ , is bilinear and acts on  $(H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}) \times C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)$  as

$$A^{2}(f \otimes g, \varphi)(x) = \mathbb{P}[g(x) \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[f(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x)]].$$
(3.5)

With this definition, the second term on the right hand side of (3.2) equals to  $\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} u_s^{\varepsilon}$ .

In addition, using the Chen's relation for rough paths (which in particular holds true for canonical lifts given by Lebesgue–Stieltjes integration), namely,

$$\delta Y^{\varepsilon,2}_{srt} = Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{sr} \otimes Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt},$$

together with the bilinearity of the operator  $A^2$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \delta(\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2}\varphi)_{srt} &= (\delta\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2})_{srt}\varphi = A^2(\delta Y^{\varepsilon,2}_{srt},\varphi) \\ &= A^2(Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{sr}\otimes Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt},\varphi) = \mathbb{P}[Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt}\cdot\nabla\mathbb{P}[Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{sr}\cdot\nabla\varphi]] = \mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt}\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}_{sr}\varphi. \end{split}$$

Hence  $(\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}, \mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2})$  satisfies the Chen's relation (2.10).

It remains to verify the corresponding analytic estimates (2.8), (2.9) as well as (2.12). For our application we work with the  $L^2$ -scale of Sobolev spaces defined in Section 2.1, namely, we let  $E^m := H^m$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . From the continuity of the Leray projection on  $H^m$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , together with the fact that div  $Y_{s,1}^{\varepsilon,1} = 0$  we obtain for  $m \in [0,2]$  and  $\varphi \in H^{-m}$ ,  $\|\varphi\|_{H^{-m}} \leq 1$ 

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\varphi\|_{H^{-(m+1)}} &= \sup_{\psi\in H^{m+1}, \|\psi\|_{H^{m+1}}\leqslant 1} \langle Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\cdot\nabla\varphi,\psi\rangle = \sup_{\psi\in H^{m+1}, \|\psi\|_{H^{m+1}}\leqslant 1} \langle Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\cdot\nabla\psi,\varphi\rangle \\ &\leqslant \sup_{\psi\in H^{m+1}, \|\psi\|_{H^{m+1}}\leqslant 1} \|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\cdot\nabla\psi\|_{H^{m}}\leqslant \|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{W^{m,\infty}} \lesssim \|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{H^{\sigma}}, \end{split}$$

provided  $H^{\sigma} \subset W^{m,\infty}$ .

Similarly, we use div  $y_s^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div} \psi = 0$  and integration by parts to obtain

$$\langle \mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\varphi,\psi\rangle = \left\langle \int_{s}^{t} dy_{r}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\nabla\mathbb{P}[\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\nabla\varphi],\psi\right\rangle = \left\langle \varphi,\int_{s}^{t} \delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\nabla\mathbb{P}[dy_{r}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\nabla\psi]\right\rangle$$

Accordingly, it holds for  $m \in [0,1]$  and  $\varphi \in H^{-m}$ ,  $\|\varphi\|_{H^{-m}} \leq 1$ 

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\varphi\|_{H^{-(m+2)}} &= \sup_{\psi\in H^{m+2}, \|\psi\|_{H^{m+2}}\leqslant 1} \left\langle \varphi, \int_{s}^{t} \delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[dy_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi] \right\rangle \\ &\leqslant \sup_{\psi\in H^{m+2}, \|\psi\|_{H^{m+2}}\leqslant 1} \left\| \int_{s}^{t} \delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[dy_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi] \right\|_{H^{m}} \leqslant \|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}, \end{split}$$

provided  $H^{\sigma} \subset W^{m+1,\infty}$ .

To summarize, for (2.8) and (2.9) we require  $\sigma$  to be such that by Sobolev embedding  $H^{\sigma} \subset W^{2,\infty}$ , that is,  $\sigma > 2 + 3/2$ . Regarding (2.12), we use the embeddings  $H^{\theta_0+1} \subset W^{2,\infty}$ ,  $H^{\sigma} \subset W^{1,\infty}$  to obtain

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} = \left\|\int_{s}^{t} \delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbb{P}[dy_{r}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi]\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{H^{\theta_{0}+1}} \|Y_{st}^{2,\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}.$$

It will be seen in Theorem 4.1 below that the desired bounds and even convergence of  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  as an  $H^{\sigma}$ -valued rough path in the sense of Definition 2.1 hold true.

Finally, in order to complete the derivation of the rough path formulation of (1.5), we denote the remaining drift part in (1.5) of finite variation as

$$\mu_t^{\varepsilon} := \mu_t^{\varepsilon,1} + \mu_t^{\varepsilon,2} := \int_0^t [Au_s^{\varepsilon} + b(u_s^{\varepsilon}, u_s^{\varepsilon})]ds + \int_0^t b(r_s^{\varepsilon}, u_s^{\varepsilon})ds.$$
(3.6)

Consequently, (1.5) rewrites as

$$\delta u_{st}^{\varepsilon} = \delta \mu_{st}^{\varepsilon} + \mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} u_s^{\varepsilon} + \mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} u_s^{\varepsilon} + u_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where  $\delta f_{st} = f_t - f_s$  and the equation is understood in the sense of distributions with a remainder  $u_{st}^{\varepsilon, \sharp}$  of order o(|t-s|). More precisely, we have the following definition.

**Definition 3.1** Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ . We say that  $((\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}, (\mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}), u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, W^{\varepsilon})$  is a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) provided

- 1.  $(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}, (\mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon})$  is a stochastic basis with a complete right-continuous filtration;
- 2.  $W^{\varepsilon}$  is a cylindrical  $(\mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}_{t})_{t\geq 0}$ -Wiener process on H;
- 3.  $r^{\varepsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{\gamma}) \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}$ -a.s. is  $(\mathcal{F}_{t}^{\varepsilon})_{t \geq 0}$ -adapted and (1.7) holds true in the analytically weak sense  $\mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}$ -a.s.;
- 4.  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C_{\text{weak}}(0,T;H) \cap L^2(0,T;H^1) \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}$ -a.s. is  $(\mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ -adapted;
- 5.  $\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon} = (\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}, \mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2})$  defined via (3.3) and (3.4) is an unbounded  $\alpha$ -rough driver on  $(H^m)_{m \in \mathbb{R}}$  in the sense of Definition 2.2 and satisfying (2.12);
- 6. the remainder given  $P^{\varepsilon}$ -a.s. by

$$u_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural} := \delta u_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \delta \mu_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} u_s^{\varepsilon} - \mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} u_s^{\varepsilon}, \qquad 0 \leqslant s \leqslant t \leqslant T,$$

belongs to  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3}) \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}$ -a.s. with  $p = 1/\alpha$ , where the drift  $\mu^{\varepsilon}$  was defined in (3.6).

The above definition is designed with the aim of the passage to the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . In particular, we did not make use of any regularity claims which cannot be proved uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ .

# 4 Detailed presentation of main results

The key to our strategy lies in the following convergence result, which consequently also implies the convergence of the unbounded rough drivers  $\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon} = (\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}, \mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2})$  in an appropriate sense. The proof can be found in Section 6.

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $y^{\varepsilon}$  be given by (1.8). Then the canonical rough path lift  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  of  $y^{\varepsilon}$  given by

$$(Y^{\varepsilon,1},Y^{\varepsilon,2}):=\left(\delta y^{\varepsilon}_{st},\int_s^t\delta y^{\varepsilon}_{sr}\otimes dy^{\varepsilon}_r\right)_{s,t\in[0,T]}$$

converges as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  to a rough path lift  $(B^1, B^2)$  of the Brownian motion  $B = (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}W$ . The convergence holds true in  $L^q(\Omega; \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; H^{\sigma}))$  for all  $\alpha \in (1/3, 1/2)$  and  $q \in [1, \infty)$ . The second component  $B^2$  is given in terms of Itô's stochastic integration as

$$B_{st}^2 := \int_s^t \delta B_{sr} \otimes dB_r + (t-s) \int w \otimes (-C)^{-1} w d\mu(w), \qquad (4.1)$$

with  $\mu$  being the unique invariant measure of (1.6). Alternatively,  $B^2$  is given in terms of Stratonovich's stochastic integration as

$$B_{st}^2 = \int_s^t \delta B_{sr} \otimes \circ dB_r + (t-s)M, \tag{4.2}$$

where for all  $k, \ell \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\langle M, e_k \otimes e_\ell \rangle = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} [(-C)^{-1} Q_\infty - Q_\infty ((-C)^{-1})^*] e_k, e_\ell \right\rangle$$

and

$$Q_{\infty} := \int_0^\infty e^{Ct} Q(e^{Ct})^* dt.$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

In other words, M is antisymmetric and  $(B^1, B^2)$  is a geometric rough path. Furthermore, with the convention  $(Y^{0,1}, Y^{0,2}) := (B^1, B^2)$ , the mapping

$$[0,1] \to \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; H^{\sigma}), \qquad \varepsilon \mapsto (Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$$

is Hölder continuous **P**-a.s. and for all  $q \in [1, \infty)$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\varepsilon\in(0,1)}\|Y^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{C_2^{\alpha}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\varepsilon\in(0,1)}\|Y^{\varepsilon,2}\|_{C_2^{2\alpha}([0,T];H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma})}^q\right] \lesssim 1.$$
(4.4)

In particular, the convergence  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2}) \to (B^1, B^2)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  holds true in  $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T]; H^{\sigma})$  **P**-a.s.

**Remark 4.2** Note that M is antisymmetric so the limit  $(B^1, B^2)$  is indeed a geometric rough path, as it was expected anyway since it is a limit of canonical lifts of smooth paths.

Moreover, if C and Q commute and C is symmetric then  $Q_{\infty} = \frac{1}{2}(-C)^{-1}Q$  and M = 0. Hence, we recover the result of [9] obtained by a completely different method.

Finally, if Q is an identity on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and -C is a  $d \times d$  matrix so that all its eigenvalues have strictly positive real part, we recover the result of Theorem 3.8 [18]. Our result is in fact stronger since we prove that the convergence holds almost surely and we have the uniform bound (4.4), whereas in [18] the supremum with respect to  $\varepsilon$  is outside the expectation. In [18], the non-triviality of M (in our notation) originated in the non-symmetry of C. However, our result shows that M can be nontrivial even for symmetric C provided C does not commute with Q. Based on Theorem 4.1, we are able to identify the limit of the rough path formulation of (1.5), namely (3.7), as the corresponding rough path formulation of (1.9). As the next step, we define the notion of probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.9) analogously to Definition 3.1. To this end, we define the limit unbounded rough driver  $\mathbb{A} = (\mathbb{A}^1, \mathbb{A}^2)$  as in (3.3), (3.4) but using the limit rough path  $(B^1, B^2)$  from Theorem 4.1 instead of  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$ . More precisely, we let

$$\mathbb{A}^1_{st}\varphi := -\mathbb{P}[B^1_{st} \cdot \nabla\varphi], \qquad \mathbb{A}^2_{st}\varphi := A^2(B^2_{st},\varphi), \tag{4.5}$$

where  $A^2$  was defined in (3.5). The limit drift is given analogously to (3.6) as

$$\mu_t := \int_0^t [Au_s + b(u_s, u_s)] ds + \int_0^t b(\bar{r}, u_s) \, ds, \tag{4.6}$$

with the Itô–Stokes velocity  $\bar{r}$  defined in (1.10).

**Definition 4.3** We say that  $((\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}, \mathbf{P}), u, B)$  is a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.9) provided

- 1.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}, \mathbf{P})$  is a stochastic basis with a complete right-continuous filtration;
- 2. B is an  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -Wiener process on H with covariance  $(-C)^{-1}Q((-C)^{-1})^*$ ;
- 3.  $u \in C_{\text{weak}}(0,T;H) \cap L^2(0,T;H^1)$  **P**-a.s. is  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ -adapted;
- 4. the remainder given by

$$u_{st}^{\natural} := \delta u_{st} - \delta \mu_{st} - \mathbb{A}_{st}^{1} u_{s} - \mathbb{A}_{st}^{2} u_{s}, \qquad 0 \leqslant s \leqslant t \leqslant T,$$

belongs to  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3})$  **P**-a.s. with  $p = 1/\alpha$ . Here, the drift  $\mu$  was defined in (4.6) whereas the unbounded rough driver  $\mathbb{A} = (\mathbb{A}^1, \mathbb{A}^2)$  in (4.5).

Our main result reads as follows, the proof spreads over Section 6, Section 7 and Section 8.

**Theorem 4.4** Let the initial values  $(u_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  and  $(v_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  be given so that both  $(u_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  and  $(\varepsilon^{1/2}v_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  are bounded in H uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ . There exists a family  $((\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}, (\mathcal{F}_t^{\varepsilon})_{t \ge 0}, \mathbf{P}^{\varepsilon}), u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, W^{\varepsilon}), \varepsilon \in (0,1)$ , of probabilistically weak rough path solutions to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7), such that

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H} + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{T}H^{1}} \lesssim 1 \quad \boldsymbol{P}^{\varepsilon} \text{-a.s.} \quad and \qquad \mathbb{E}^{\varepsilon}[\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{T}H^{\gamma}}^{2}] \lesssim 1 \tag{4.7}$$

with implicit constants independent of  $\varepsilon$ .

For every such family of probabilistically weak rough path solutions there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , such that  $(u^{\varepsilon}, (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}W^{\varepsilon})$  converges in law to a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.9).

In view of the above discussion, the existence of a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7) for every  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  can be proved by classical arguments via Galerkin approximation together with the stochastic compactness method. We omit the details of the construction but we derive the uniform estimate (4.7) in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3.

Remark 4.5 Furthermore, we note that by Skorokhod representation theorem, for every family

$$((\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}, (\mathcal{F}^{\varepsilon}_t)_{t \ge 0}, \boldsymbol{P}^{\varepsilon}), u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, W^{\varepsilon}), \qquad \varepsilon \in (0, 1),$$

of probabilistically weak rough path solutions to (1.5), (1.6), (1.7), there exists a sequence  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and a family  $((\bar{\Omega}, \bar{\mathcal{F}}, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}_t^{\varepsilon})_{t \geq 0}, \overline{\boldsymbol{P}}), \bar{u}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{r}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{W}^{\varepsilon})$  of probabilistically weak rough path solutions such that the laws of  $(u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, W^{\varepsilon})$  and  $(\bar{u}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{r}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{W}^{\varepsilon})$  coincide. Thus, without loss of generality, we assume from now on that the approximate solutions  $(u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, W^{\varepsilon})$  in Theorem 4.4 are defined on a common probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \boldsymbol{P})$ .

## 5 Ergodicity of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process

In Section 6 as well as in Section 7.4, we will need a suitable ergodic theorem in order to deduce the convergence of the second component of the rough path  $Y^{\varepsilon,2}$  and the convergence towards the Itô–Stokes velocity  $\bar{r}$  given by (1.10). More precisely, letting  $\tilde{w}_t = w_{\varepsilon t}^{\varepsilon}$  both problems reduce to the convergence of the ergodic average

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t F(\tilde{w}_s) ds = \int F(w) d\mu(w),$$

where  $\mu$  is the (unique) invariant measure for  $\tilde{w}$  and F is a certain quadratic function. We observe that  $\tilde{w}$  solves

$$d\tilde{w} = C\tilde{w}dt + Q^{1/2}d\tilde{W}$$
(5.1)

with some cylindrical Wiener process  $\tilde{W}$ . As a matter of fact, since in view of Remark 4.5,  $w^{\varepsilon}$  actually satisfies (1.6) with a Wiener process  $W^{\varepsilon}$ , the rescaling  $\tilde{W}$  also depends on  $\varepsilon$ . However, this dependence is irrelevant for the sequel and we drop it for notational simplicity, as we only use the law of  $\tilde{W}$  in our arguments.

We denote by  $\tilde{w}(w)$  the unique solution to (5.1) with the initial condition  $w \in H$ . It is Gaussian and if  $w \in H^{\sigma}$  then in view of (2.1) and (2.5) it satisfies the global-in-time estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,\infty)} \mathbb{E}[\|\tilde{w}_t(w)\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \|w\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2 + \int_0^\infty \|(-\Delta)^{\sigma/2} e^{Ct} Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H)}^2 dt < \infty.$$
(5.2)

This can be obtained directly from the mild formulation. Moreover, (5.1) generates a Markov process with the unique invariant measure  $\mu = \mathcal{N}(0, Q_{\infty})$  with  $Q_{\infty}$  defined in (4.3), see e.g. Theorem 11.17, Theorem 11.20 [8].

The desired ergodic theorem needed for Section 6 reads as follows.

**Proposition 5.1** Let  $F : H^{\sigma} \to H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}$  be quadratic in the sense that  $F(w) = a_1(w) \otimes a_2(w)$  for some bounded linear operators  $a_1, a_2 : H^{\sigma} \to H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}$ . Let  $\tilde{w}$  be a solution to (5.1) with an initial condition  $\tilde{w}_0 \in H^{\sigma}$ . Then for all  $t \in [0, \infty)$ 

$$\left\| \mathbb{E}[F(\tilde{w}_t)] - \int F(w) d\mu(w) \right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}} \lesssim e^{-\iota t} (1 + \|\tilde{w}_0\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2), \qquad t \ge 0,$$
(5.3)

where  $\iota$  is the parameter from assumption (2.1), and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{t}\int_{0}^{t}F(\tilde{w}_{s})ds - \int F(w)d\mu(w)\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] \lesssim \frac{1}{t}(1 + \|\tilde{w}_{0}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4}).$$
(5.4)

**Proof** Let  $(f_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $H^{\sigma}$ . Recall that  $\tilde{w}$  is Markov and denote its Markov semigroup by  $(P_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . It acts generally on a function

$$H^{\sigma} \to H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}, \qquad w \mapsto \varphi(w) = \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \langle \varphi(w), f_k \otimes f_\ell \rangle_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}} f_k \otimes f_\ell$$

component-wise as

$$(P_t\varphi)(w) := \mathbb{E}[\varphi(\tilde{w}_t(w))] = \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{E}[\langle \varphi(\tilde{w}_t(w)), f_k \otimes f_\ell \rangle_{H^\sigma \otimes H^\sigma}] f_k \otimes f_\ell$$

where  $\tilde{w}_t(w)$  denotes the solution to (5.1) with the initial condition  $w \in H^{\sigma}$ . In order to prove (5.3) we now write

$$\mathbb{E}[F(\tilde{w}_t)] - \int F(w)d\mu(w) = \mathbb{E}[F(\tilde{w}_t)] - \int (P_tF)(w)d\mu(w) = \int \mathbb{E}[F(\tilde{w}_t) - F(\tilde{w}_t(w))]d\mu(w)$$

$$=\int \mathbb{E}[a_1(\tilde{w}_t)\otimes a_2(\tilde{w}_t-\tilde{w}_t(w))+a_1(\tilde{w}_t-\tilde{w}_t(w))\otimes a_2(\tilde{w}_t(w))]d\mu(w)$$

and using the fact that  $\tilde{w}_t - \tilde{w}_t(w) = e^{Ct}(\tilde{w}_0 - w)$  we further obtain

$$= e^{-\iota t} \int \mathbb{E}[a_1(\tilde{w}_t) \otimes a_2(e^{\iota t} e^{Ct}(\tilde{w}_0 - w)) + a_1(e^{\iota t} e^{Ct}(\tilde{w}_0 - w)) \otimes a_2(\tilde{w}_t(w))] d\mu(w).$$

Since the above integral is controlled by the assumption on  $a_1, a_2$ , (2.1) and the integrability of the invariant measure  $\mu$  as

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int \mathbb{E} \left[ a_1(\tilde{w}_t) \otimes a_2(e^{\iota t} e^{Ct}(\tilde{w}_0 - w)) + a_1(e^{\iota t} e^{Ct}(\tilde{w}_0 - w)) \otimes a_2(\tilde{w}_t(w)) \right] d\mu(w) \right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}} \\ \lesssim \int \mathbb{E} \left[ \| \tilde{w}_t \|_{H^{\sigma}} \| \tilde{w}_0 - w \|_{H^{\sigma}} + \| \tilde{w}_0 - w \|_{H^{\sigma}} \| \tilde{w}_t(w) \|_{H^{\sigma}} \right] d\mu(w) \lesssim (1 + \| \tilde{w}_0 \|_{H^{\sigma}}^2), \end{split}$$

(5.3) follows.

For (5.4), we first define  $\overline{F} := \int F(w) d\mu(w)$  and write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{t}\int_0^t F(\tilde{w}_s)ds - \bar{F}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2\right] = \frac{2}{t^2}\int_0^t \int_r^t \mathbb{E}[\langle F(\tilde{w}_s) - \bar{F}, F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F} \rangle_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}]dsdr.$$

Since  $r \leq s$ , it holds by the Markov property

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle F(\tilde{w}_s) - \bar{F}, F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F} \rangle_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}] = \mathbb{E}[\langle F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F}, \mathbb{E}[F(\tilde{w}_s) - \bar{F} | \mathcal{F}_r] \rangle_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[\langle F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F}, (P_{s-r}(F(\cdot) - \bar{F}))(\tilde{w}_r) \rangle_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}]$$
$$\leqslant (\mathbb{E}[\|F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F}\|^2_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}])^{1/2} (\mathbb{E}[\|(P_{s-r}(F(\cdot) - \bar{F}))(\tilde{w}_r)\|^2_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}])^{1/2}.$$

By assumption on F and (5.2) we have

$$\sup_{r\in[0,\infty)} \mathbb{E}[\|F(\tilde{w}_r) - \bar{F}\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim 1 + \mathbb{E}[\|\tilde{w}_r\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4] \lesssim 1 + \|\tilde{w}_0\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4,$$

whereas by (5.3) and (5.2) we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\|(P_{s-r}(F(\cdot)-\bar{F}))(\tilde{w}_r)\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim e^{-2\iota(s-r)}(1+\mathbb{E}[\|\tilde{w}_r\|_{H^m}^2])^2 \lesssim e^{-2\iota(s-r)}(1+\|\tilde{w}_0\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4).$$

Therefore,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{t}\int_{0}^{t}F(\tilde{w}_{s})ds - \bar{F}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] \lesssim \frac{1}{t^{2}}\int_{0}^{t}\int_{r}^{t}e^{-\iota(s-r)}dsdr(1 + \|\tilde{w}_{0}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4}) \lesssim \frac{1}{t}(1 + \|\tilde{w}_{0}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4})$$

which completes the proof.

The same proof applies to other quadratic functions F. For instance, in Section 7.4 we make use the following variant.

**Corollary 5.2** Let  $F : H^{\sigma} \to H$  be quadratic in the sense that there exists a bounded bilinear operators  $a : H^{\sigma} \times H^{\sigma} \to H$  such that F(w) = a(w, w). Let  $\tilde{w}$  be a solution to (5.1) with an initial condition  $\tilde{w}_0 \in H^{\sigma}$ . Then for all  $t \in [0, \infty)$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{t}\int_0^t F(\tilde{w}_s)ds - \int F(w)d\mu(w)\right\|_H^2\right] \lesssim \frac{1}{t}(1 + \|\tilde{w}_0\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4).$$

# 6 Convergence of the rough driver

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 4.1.

**Proof** We intend to apply the Kolmogorov criterion for rough path distance, Theorem 3.3 in [18], to deduce that for all  $q \in [2, \infty)$ ,  $\theta \in (2/3, 1]$  and  $\beta \in (1/3, \theta/2)$ 

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - B^1\|^q_{C^{\beta}_2([0,T];H^{\sigma})}])^{1/q} + (\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,2} - B^2\|^q_{C^{2\beta}_2([0,T];H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma})}])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{(1-\theta)/2}.$$
(6.1)

This then readily implies the first statement of the theorem. First, we observe that the processes  $w^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, B$  are jointly Gaussian as being linear combinations of W. Accordingly,  $Y^{\varepsilon,1} - B^1$  and  $Y^{\varepsilon,2} - B^2$ , respectively, live in the Wiener chaos of order 1 and 2, respectively. Hence all the  $L^q(\Omega)$ -norms are equivalent and by Theorem 3.3 in [18] it is enough to prove for all  $\theta \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} - B_{st}^1\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon^{1-\theta} |t-s|^{\theta}, \qquad \mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} - B_{st}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon^{1-\theta} |t-s|^{2\theta}. \tag{6.2}$$

Step 1: Regarding the first bound in (6.2), we note that according to (2.3) and (2.5) B is an  $H^{\sigma}$ -valued Wiener process and in view of (1.6) and (1.8) it holds for  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$y_t^{\varepsilon} = B_t - \varepsilon^{1/2} (-C)^{-1} w_t^{\varepsilon}.$$
(6.3)

Consequently, by (2.3) and (5.2) it holds for all  $t \in [0, T]$  (using again the notation  $\tilde{w}_t = w_{\varepsilon t}^{\varepsilon}$ )

$$\mathbb{E}[\|y_t^{\varepsilon} - B_t\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] = \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1}w_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] = \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1}\tilde{w}_{\varepsilon^{-1}t}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon.$$
(6.4)

This proves the first bound in (6.2) for  $\theta = 0$ . On the other hand, aiming for the first bound in (6.2) with  $\theta = 1$ , we write

$$\mathbb{E}[\|\delta y_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \delta B_{st}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] = \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1} \delta w_{st}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] = \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1} \delta \tilde{w}_{\varepsilon^{-1}s,\varepsilon^{-1}t}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}]$$
(6.5)

and observe that

$$\begin{split} \delta \tilde{w}_{st} &= (e^{Ct} - e^{Cs})\tilde{w}_0 + (e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id}) \int_0^s e^{C(s-r)} Q^{1/2} d\tilde{W}_r + \int_s^t e^{C(t-r)} Q^{1/2} d\tilde{W}_r \\ &= (e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\tilde{w}_s + \int_s^t e^{C(t-r)} Q^{1/2} d\tilde{W}_r, \end{split}$$

which implies by (2.3)

$$\mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1}\delta\tilde{w}_{st}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] \lesssim \mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1}(e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\tilde{w}_{s}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] + \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} e^{C(t-r)}Q^{1/2}d\tilde{W}_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right].$$

Here the second term is bounded using (2.5) as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} e^{C(t-r)}Q^{1/2}d\tilde{W}_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\int_{s}^{t}\|(-\Delta)^{\sigma/2}e^{C(t-r)}Q^{1/2}\|_{L_{2}(H)}^{2}dr \lesssim |t-s|.$$

For the first one, we use (2.2) and (5.2) to get

$$\mathbb{E}[\|(-C)^{-1}(e^{C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\tilde{w}_s\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim |t-s|\mathbb{E}\left[\|\tilde{w}_s\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2\right] \lesssim |t-s|.$$

Plugging this into (6.5) yields

$$\mathbb{E}[\|\delta y_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \delta B_{st}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] \lesssim |t - s|.$$
(6.6)

In other words, the first bound in (6.2) holds with  $\theta = 1$ . Finally, let  $\theta \in [0, 1]$  be arbitrary. Then by interpolation, (6.4) and (6.6) imply

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} - B_{st}^1\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \leqslant (\mathbb{E}[\|\delta y_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \delta B_{st}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2])^{1-\theta} (\mathbb{E}[\|\delta y_{st}^{\varepsilon} - \delta B_{st}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2])^{\theta} \lesssim \varepsilon^{1-\theta} |t-s|^{\theta}$$

and the first bound in (6.2) is verified.

As in Theorem 3.3 in [18], this readily implies

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - B^1\|^q_{C^{\beta}_2([0,T];H^{\sigma})}])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{(1-\theta)/2}$$

and in particular also proves the convergence of  $Y^{\varepsilon,1} \to B^1$  in  $L^q(\Omega; C_2^\beta([0,T]; H^\sigma))$ . Step 2: To establish the second bound in (6.2) we proceed similarly as in Step 1. Towards the interpolation argument, we first show the bound for  $\theta = 1$ , afterwards for  $\theta = 0$ .

Step 2.1: For  $\theta = 1$ , we recall that  $B^2$  is a rough path lift of B defined in (4.1). Here the martingale part is given by Itô's iterated integral, which is well-defined in  $H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}$  due to (2.3) and (2.5), the finite variation part is controlled due to the properties of the invariant measure  $\mu$ . Therefore

$$\mathbb{E}[\|B_{st}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim |t-s|^2.$$

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim |t-s|^2.$$
(6.7)

Hence, we shall prove

To this end, we apply (6.3) to get

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} = \int_s^t \delta y_{sr}^\varepsilon \otimes dy_r^\varepsilon = \int_s^t \delta y_{sr}^\varepsilon \otimes dB_r - \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t \delta y_{sr}^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} dw_r^\varepsilon.$$

Integrating by parts in the second term yields

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t \delta y_{sr}^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} dw_r^\varepsilon &= \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t y_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} dw_r^\varepsilon - \varepsilon^{1/2} y_s^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} \delta w_{st}^\varepsilon \\ &= -\varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t dy_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_r^\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{1/2} [y_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_r^\varepsilon]_{r=s}^{r=t} - \varepsilon^{1/2} y_s^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} \delta w_{st}^\varepsilon \\ &= -\varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t dy_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_r^\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{1/2} y_t^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^\varepsilon - \varepsilon^{1/2} y_s^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^\varepsilon \\ &= -\varepsilon^{1/2} \int_s^t dy_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_r^\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{1/2} \delta y_{st}^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^\varepsilon \\ &= -\int_s^t w_r^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_r^\varepsilon dr + \int_s^t w_r^\varepsilon dr \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^\varepsilon . \end{split}$$

We estimate each term separately. The first term is controlled by Itô's isometry as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t}\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\otimes dB_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t}\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\otimes (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}dW_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{s}^{t}\left\|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\otimes (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}\cdot\right\|_{L_{2}(H,H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma})}^{2}dr\right],$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} \cdot \|_{L_{2}(H, H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma})}^{2} &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} g_{k}\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2} \\ &= \|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \|(-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_{k}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} &= \|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} \|(-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2}\|_{L_{2}(H; H^{\sigma})}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence by (2.3) and (2.5) we deduce

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t}\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\otimes dB_{r}\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right]\lesssim \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{s}^{t}\|\delta y_{sr}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}dr\right]\lesssim \int_{s}^{t}(r-s)dr\lesssim |t-s|^{2},$$

where we used the estimate for the first component proved in Step 1 in the second to last inequality. For the second term, we use (2.3) together with (5.2) to obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} dr\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] \leqslant |t-s| \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{E}[\|w_{r}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4}] dr \lesssim |t-s|^{2}.$$

Finally, by the same assumptions we bound the last term as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{s}^{t} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} dr \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_{t}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right] \lesssim |t-s| \int_{s}^{t} \mathbb{E}[\|w_{r}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} \|w_{t}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] dr \lesssim |t-s|^{2}.$$

This completes the proof of (6.7) and consequently the second bound (6.2) with  $\theta = 1$  follows.

Step 2.2: We aim at proving the second bound in (6.2) with  $\theta = 0$ . Proceeding as in the analogous part of Step 1, we want a rate of convergence of the form

$$\sup_{s,t\in[0,T]} \mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} - B_{st}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon.$$
(6.8)

To this end, it is enough to prove for all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{0t}^{\varepsilon,2} - B_{0t}^2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon.$$
(6.9)

Indeed, by Chen's relation for  $0 \leq r \leq t$ 

$$\begin{split} \delta(Y^{\varepsilon,2} - B^2)_{0rt} &= (Y^{\varepsilon,2}_{0t} - B^2_{0t}) - (Y^{\varepsilon,2}_{0r} - B^2_{0r}) - (Y^{\varepsilon,2}_{rt} - B^2_{rt}) = Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{0r} \otimes Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt} - B^1_{0r} \otimes B^1_{rt} \\ &= (Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{0r} - B^1_{0r}) \otimes Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt} + B^1_{0r} \otimes (Y^{\varepsilon,1}_{rt} - B^1_{rt}), \end{split}$$

meaning, if we already know the bound (6.9) for all t we may combine it with (6.4) to get (6.8).

Let us fix  $t \in [0, T]$  and prove (6.9). We recall that by (6.3) it holds

$$Y_{0t}^{\varepsilon,2} = \int_0^t y_s^\varepsilon \otimes dy_s^\varepsilon = \int_0^t y_s^\varepsilon \otimes dB_s - \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_0^t y_s^\varepsilon \otimes (-C)^{-1} dw_s^\varepsilon$$

Integrating by parts yields

$$Y_{0t}^{\varepsilon,2} = \int_0^t y_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes dB_s - \varepsilon^{1/2} y_t^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_0^t dy_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_s^{\varepsilon}$$
$$= \int_0^t y_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes dB_s - \varepsilon^{1/2} y_t^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_t^{\varepsilon} + \int_0^t w_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_s^{\varepsilon} ds.$$
(6.10)

In order to treat the last term, we apply the ergodic theorem from Proposition 5.1. It shall converge to the finite variation term in the Itô expression of  $B^2$ , i.e. (4.1). Namely, we need to bound

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_0^t w_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1} w_s^{\varepsilon} ds - t \int w \otimes (-C)^{-1} w d\mu(w)\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^2\right],$$

which by the change of variables  $r = \varepsilon^{-1}s$ ,  $dr = \varepsilon^{-1}ds$ ,  $w_s^{\varepsilon} = \tilde{w}_{\varepsilon^{-1}s}$  and Proposition 5.1 rewrites as

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\varepsilon\int_{0}^{\varepsilon^{-1}t}\tilde{w}_{r}\otimes(-C)^{-1}\tilde{w}_{r}dr - t\int w\otimes(-C)^{-1}wd\mu(w)\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right]$$
$$= t\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{-1}t}\int_{0}^{\varepsilon^{-1}t}\tilde{w}_{r}\otimes(-C)^{-1}\tilde{w}_{r}dr - \int w\otimes(-C)^{-1}wd\mu(w)\right\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^{2}\right]\lesssim\varepsilon.$$

For the convergence of the stochastic integral in (6.10), we have by Itô's isometry, (2.5) and (6.4)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_0^t y_s^{\varepsilon} \otimes dB_s - \int_0^t B_s \otimes dB_s\right\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^2\right] \lesssim \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^t \|y_s^{\varepsilon} - B_s\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2 ds\right] \lesssim \varepsilon.$$

The remaining term in (6.10) is controlled as follows

$$\mathbb{E}[\|\varepsilon^{1/2}y_t^{\varepsilon} \otimes (-C)^{-1}w_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] = \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|y_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2\|(-C)^{-1}w_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2]$$
$$\leqslant \varepsilon (\mathbb{E}[\|y_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4])^{1/2} (\mathbb{E}[\|w_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4])^{1/2} \lesssim \varepsilon,$$

where we used Gaussianity and (6.4) to get

$$\mathbb{E}[\|y_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4] \lesssim \mathbb{E}[\|y_t^{\varepsilon} - B_t\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4] + \mathbb{E}[\|B_t\|_{H^{\sigma}}^4] \lesssim 1.$$

This completes the proof of (6.9) where  $B^2$  is given by the Itô formulation (4.1). It also completes the proof of the second bound in (6.2) for  $\theta = 0$ . Interpolating with the bound for  $\theta = 1$ , the general version of (6.2) follows.

Step 2.3: Now, it remains to verify the Stratonovich formulation (4.2). Rewriting Itô's stochastic integral into Stratonovich's form we obtain

$$B_{0t}^2 = \int_0^t B_s \otimes \circ dB_s - \frac{t}{2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m \otimes (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m + t \int w \otimes (-C)^{-1} w d\mu(w).$$
(6.11)

We intend to prove that the symmetric part of the very last term precisely cancels with the Itô–Stratonovich corrector, i.e. the second term in (6.11). To this end, we first observe that the Itô–Stratonovich corrector projected at  $e_k \otimes e_\ell$  reads as

$$-\frac{t}{2} \left\langle \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m \otimes (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m, e_k \otimes e_\ell \right\rangle$$
$$= -\frac{t}{2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \langle (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m, e_k \rangle \langle (-C)^{-1} Q^{1/2} e_m, e_\ell \rangle$$
$$= -\frac{t}{2} \langle Q^{1/2} ((-C)^{-1})^* e_k, Q^{1/2} ((-C)^{-1})^* e_\ell \rangle = -\frac{t}{2} \langle (-C)^{-1} Q ((-C)^{-1})^* e_k, e_\ell \rangle.$$

We perform the same projection to the last term in (6.11). Since  $\mu = \mathcal{N}(0, Q_{\infty})$  with  $Q_{\infty}$  given in (4.3) and since it holds for any  $g, h \in H$ 

$$\langle Q_{\infty}g,h
angle = \int \langle g,w
angle \langle h,w
angle d\mu(w),$$

we obtain

$$t\left\langle \int w \otimes (-C)^{-1} w d\mu(w), e_k \otimes e_\ell \right\rangle = t \int \langle w, e_k \rangle \langle w, ((-C)^{-1})^* e_\ell \rangle d\mu(w)$$
$$= t \langle Q_\infty e_k, ((-C)^{-1})^* e_\ell \rangle = t \langle (-C)^{-1} Q_\infty e_k, e_\ell \rangle.$$

By integration by parts we obtain

$$(-C)^{-1}Q_{\infty} = \int_{0}^{\infty} (-C)^{-1} e^{Ct} Q e^{C^{*}t} dt$$
$$= [(-C)^{-1} e^{Ct} Q e^{C^{*}t} ((-C)^{-1})^{*}]_{t=0}^{t=\infty} - \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{Ct} Q e^{C^{*}t} ((-C)^{-1})^{*} dt$$
$$= (-C)^{-1} Q ((-C)^{-1})^{*} - Q_{\infty} ((-C)^{-1})^{*}$$

hence the symmetric part reads as

$$\operatorname{Sym}((-C)^{-1}Q_{\infty}) = \frac{1}{2}[(-C)^{-1}Q_{\infty} + Q_{\infty}((-C)^{-1})^*] = \frac{1}{2}(-C)^{-1}Q((-C)^{-1})^*,$$

which cancels the Itô–Stratonovich corrector, as claimed. As a consequence, we deduce that

$$B_{0t}^2 = \int_0^t B_s \otimes \circ dB_s + tM,$$

where M is antisymmetric and given by

$$\langle M, e_k \otimes e_\ell \rangle = \langle \operatorname{Ant}((-C)^{-1}Q_\infty)e_k, e_\ell \rangle = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} [(-C)^{-1}Q_\infty - Q_\infty((-C)^{-1})^*]e_k, e_\ell \right\rangle$$

or alternatively

$$\langle M, e_k \otimes e_\ell \rangle = \langle (-C)^{-1} Q_\infty e_k, e_\ell \rangle - \left\langle \frac{1}{2} (-C)^{-1} Q ((-C)^{-1})^* e_k, e_\ell \right\rangle.$$

By using Chen's relation again to derive a formula for  $B_{st}^2$  for general  $s, t \in [0, T]$ , (4.2) follows. Step 3: Finally, we shall prove the Hölder continuity of the mapping  $\varepsilon \mapsto (Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  and the pathwise uniform bound (4.4).

Step 3.1: First component of the rough path. For  $0<\varepsilon<\eta\leqslant 1$  we have

$$w^{\varepsilon}(t) - w^{\eta}(t) = (\varepsilon^{-1/2} - \eta^{-1/2}) \int_{0}^{t} e^{\varepsilon^{-1}C(t-s)} Q^{1/2} dW_{s}$$
$$+ \eta^{-1/2} \int_{0}^{t} (e^{\varepsilon^{-1}C(t-s)} - e^{\eta^{-1}C(t-s)}) Q^{1/2} dW_{s} =: I_{1} + I_{2}.$$

Using (2.1) and (2.5) we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\|I_1\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] = (\varepsilon^{-1/2} - \eta^{-1/2})^2 \int_0^t \|e^{\varepsilon^{-1}C(t-s)}Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H;H^{\sigma})}^2 ds$$
$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-3}|\varepsilon - \eta|^2 \int_0^t e^{-2\varepsilon^{-1}\iota(t-s)} ds \lesssim \varepsilon^{-2}|\varepsilon - \eta|^2,$$

and by (2.7), (2.1) and (2.6)

$$\mathbb{E}[\|I_2\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \eta^{-1} \int_0^t \|(e^{\varepsilon^{-1}C(t-s)} - e^{\eta^{-1}C(t-s)})Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H;H^{\sigma})}^2 ds$$
  
$$\leqslant \eta^{-1} \int_0^t \|(-C)^{-\vartheta} (e^{(\varepsilon^{-1} - \eta^{-1})C(t-s)} - \mathrm{Id})\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma};H^{\sigma})}^2 \|e^{\eta^{-1}C(t-s)}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\sigma};H^{\sigma})}^2 \|(-C)^{\vartheta}Q^{1/2}\|_{L_2(H;H^{\sigma})}^2 ds$$
  
$$\lesssim \eta^{-1} |\varepsilon^{-1} - \eta^{-1}|^{\vartheta} \int_0^t |t-s|^{\vartheta} e^{-2\iota\eta^{-1}(t-s)} ds \lesssim \varepsilon^{-2\vartheta} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta}.$$

We deduce

$$\mathbb{E}[\|w^{\varepsilon}(t) - w^{\eta}(t)\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] \lesssim \varepsilon^{-2} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta}.$$
(6.12)

We proceed with an estimate for  $Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}$ . It holds

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} - Y_{st}^{\eta,1} = (\varepsilon^{-1/2} - \eta^{-1/2}) \int_{s}^{t} w_{r}^{\varepsilon} dr + \eta^{-1/2} \int_{s}^{t} (w_{r}^{\varepsilon} - w_{r}^{\eta}) dr$$

hence in view of (6.12)

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,1} - Y_{st}^{\eta,1}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}] \lesssim (\varepsilon^{-1/2} - \eta^{-1/2})^{2} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{s}^{t} \|w_{r}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}} dr\right)^{2}\right] + \eta^{-1} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{s}^{t} \|w_{r}^{\varepsilon} - w_{r}^{\eta}\|_{H^{\sigma}} dr\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-3} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{2} |t - s|^{2} + \eta^{-1} \varepsilon^{-2} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta} |t - s|^{2}$$
$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-3} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta} |t - s|^{2}.$$

By Gaussianity and Kolmogorov's criterion, this leads to

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}\|_{C_2^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-3/2} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta/2}$$
(6.13)

with  $\beta$  as in (6.1). Define  $Y^{0,1} := B^1$  so that the first bound in (6.1) reads as

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{0,1}\|_{C_2^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{(1-\theta)/2}$$

where  $\theta \in (2/3, 1]$ . This implies the following.

First case: if  $2\varepsilon < \eta$  then  $\eta < 2|\varepsilon - \eta|$  and therefore

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}\|_{C_{2}^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^{q}])^{1/q} &\leq (\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{0,1}\|_{C_{2}^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^{q}])^{1/q} \\ + (\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\eta,1} - Y^{0,1}\|_{C_{2}^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^{q}])^{1/q} \lesssim \eta^{(1-\theta)/2} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{(1-\theta)/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Second case: if  $\varepsilon < \eta < 2\varepsilon$  and  $\varepsilon \leq |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\gamma_0}$  for some  $\gamma_0$  to be chosen, then

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}\|_{C_2^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{(1-\theta)/2} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\gamma_0(1-\theta)/2}$$

Third case: if  $\varepsilon < \eta < 2\varepsilon$  and  $\varepsilon > |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\gamma_0}$  then by (6.13)

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}\|^{q}_{C^{\beta}_{2}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}])^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-3/2} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta/2} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta/2 - 3\gamma_{0}/2} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta/4}$$

provided  $\gamma_0 = \vartheta/6$ .

It follows that there exists  $\kappa_1 > 0$  so that for every  $\varepsilon, \eta \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\left(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,1} - Y^{\eta,1}\|_{C_2^{\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q]\right)^{1/q} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\kappa_1}$$

By Kolmogorov's criterion we finally deduce the Hölder continuity of the mapping

 $[0,1] \to C_2^\beta([0,T];H^\sigma), \qquad \varepsilon \mapsto Y^{\varepsilon,1}$ 

as well as the first bound in (4.4).

Step 3.2: Second component of the rough path. We proceed similarly as before. We have

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} = \varepsilon^{-1} \int_s^t \int_s^r w_\theta^\varepsilon \otimes w_r^\varepsilon d\theta dr$$

and for  $0 < \varepsilon < \eta \leq 1$ 

$$Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} - Y_{st}^{\eta,2} = (\varepsilon^{-1} - \eta^{-1}) \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \otimes w_{r}^{\varepsilon} d\theta dr$$
$$+ \eta^{-1} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} (w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - w_{\theta}^{\eta}) \otimes w_{r}^{\varepsilon} d\theta dr + \eta^{-1} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} w_{\theta}^{\eta} \otimes (w_{r}^{\varepsilon} - w_{r}^{\eta}) d\theta dr =: I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3}.$$

We obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\|I_1\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \leqslant |\varepsilon^{-1} - \eta^{-1}|^2 \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_s^t \int_s^r \|w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \otimes w_r^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}} d\theta dr\right)^2\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{-4} |\varepsilon - \eta|^2 |t - s|^4 |\varepsilon|^2 |\varepsilon|^2$$

Then

$$\mathbb{E}[\|I_2\|_{H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \eta^{-1} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_s^t \|w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - w_{\theta}^{\eta}\|_{H^{\sigma}} d\theta \int_s^t \|w_r^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}} dr\right)^2\right],$$

by Minkowski's integral inequality

$$\lesssim \eta^{-1} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} (\mathbb{E}[\|w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - w_{\theta}^{\eta}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2} \|w_{r}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}])^{1/2} d\theta dr \right)^{2}$$
$$\lesssim \eta^{-1} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{r} (\mathbb{E}[\|w_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - w_{\theta}^{\eta}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4}])^{1/4} (\mathbb{E}[\|w_{r}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{4}])^{1/4} d\theta dr \right)^{2}$$

and by Gaussianity and (6.12)

$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-3} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta} |t - s|^4$$

The bound for  $I_3$  is the same. Altogether, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} - Y_{st}^{\eta,2}\|_{H^{\sigma} \otimes H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim \varepsilon^{-4} |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta} |t - s|^4$$

hence by Gaussianity and Kolmogorov's criterion

$$\left(\mathbb{E}[\|Y_{st}^{\varepsilon,2} - Y_{st}^{\eta,2}\|_{C_2^{2\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma})}^q]\right)^{1/q} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-2}|\varepsilon - \eta|^{\vartheta/2}.$$

Using now the second bound in (6.1) similarly to Step 3.1, we deduce that that there exists  $\kappa_2 > 0$  so that for every  $\varepsilon, \eta \in [0, 1]$ 

$$(\mathbb{E}[\|Y^{\varepsilon,2} - Y^{\eta,2}\|_{C_2^{2\beta}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^q])^{1/q} \lesssim |\varepsilon - \eta|^{\kappa_2}$$

and consequently the Hölder continuity of the mapping

$$[0,1] \to C_2^{2\beta}([0,T]; H^{\sigma}), \qquad \varepsilon \mapsto Y^{\varepsilon,2}$$

and the second bound in (4.4) follow.

# 7 Convergence of the Itô–Stokes drift

#### 7.1 Uniform estimate of $u^{\varepsilon}$

Recall that for a fixed  $\varepsilon$  all the time integrals involved in (1.5) are classical Lebesgue integrals. Hence after a preliminary step of Galerkin approximation, the usual energy inequality immediately implies a uniform bound for  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . This relies on the cancellation property of b and yields a.s.

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|u_t^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2 + 2\nu \int_0^T \|\nabla u_r^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2 dr \leqslant \|u_0^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2.$$
(7.1)

We note that the inequality comes from the fact that we need to proceed via Galerkin approximation and use lower semicontinuity, as for 3D Navier–Stokes equations it is not possible to directly test the equation by the solution itself.

#### 7.2 Uniform estimate of $w^{\varepsilon}$

Using again the change of variables  $\tilde{w}_t = w_{\varepsilon t}^{\varepsilon}$  together with (5.2), we have

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathbb{E}[\|w_t^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathbb{E}[\|\tilde{w}_{\varepsilon^{-1}t}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^2] \lesssim 1$$

$$(7.2)$$

and by Gaussianity this also bounds higher moments.

## 7.3 Uniform estimate of $r^{\varepsilon}$

We proceed again via the energy inequality. Testing (1.7) by the solution itself after the preliminary step of Galerkin approximation, multiplying by  $\varepsilon$ , taking expectation and applying the cancellation property of b as well as Young's inequality leads to

$$\begin{aligned} & \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \partial_t \mathbb{E}[\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2] - \mathbb{E}[\langle r^{\varepsilon}, Cr^{\varepsilon} \rangle] + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|(-A)^{1/2}r^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2] \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\langle r^{\varepsilon}, A\varepsilon^{-1/2}w^{\varepsilon} \rangle] + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\langle b(u^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon^{-1/2}w^{\varepsilon}), r^{\varepsilon} \rangle] + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\langle b(v^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon^{-1/2}w^{\varepsilon}), r^{\varepsilon} \rangle] \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E}[\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2] + c \mathbb{E}[\|w^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^2}^2] + c \mathbb{E}[\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_H^4] + c \varepsilon^2 \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^4] + c \mathbb{E}\left[\|w^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\theta_0}}^4\right]. \end{aligned}$$

Thus by (2.4)

$$\int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}[\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\gamma}}^{2}] dt \lesssim \varepsilon \mathbb{E}[\|r_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2}] + \int_{0}^{T} (\mathbb{E}[\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{4}] + \varepsilon^{2} \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{4}] + (\mathbb{E}[\|w^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\sigma}}^{2}])^{2} + 1) dt.$$
(7.3)

While  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is already controlled uniformly in  $\varepsilon$  and  $\omega$  by (7.1) and  $w^{\varepsilon}$  is controlled by (7.2), we still need to establish the necessary bound for  $v^{\varepsilon}$ . Again after the preliminary Galerkin approximation, we test (1.2) by  $\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{p-2}v^{\varepsilon}$  to obtain

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^p] - \varepsilon^{-1}\mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^{p-2} \langle v^{\varepsilon}, Cv^{\varepsilon} \rangle] + \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^{p-2} \|(-A)^{1/2}v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2] \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} \frac{p-1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} Q \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^{p-2}].$$

Consequently, in view of (2.4) it holds for p = 2

$$\varepsilon \int_0^T \mathbb{E}[\|v^\varepsilon\|_H^2] dt \leqslant \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} \mathbb{E}[\|v_0^\varepsilon\|_H^2] + \frac{T}{2} \operatorname{Tr} Q$$

and for p = 4

$$\varepsilon^2 \int_0^T \mathbb{E}[\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_H^4] dt \leqslant \frac{\varepsilon^3}{2} \mathbb{E}[\|v_0^{\varepsilon}\|_H^4] + \frac{3}{2} \operatorname{Tr} Q\left(\frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} \mathbb{E}[\|v_0^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2] + \frac{T}{2} \operatorname{Tr} Q\right)$$

Plugging this bound as well as (7.1) and (7.2) into (7.3) and using the fact that the initial conditions  $r_0^{\varepsilon} = v_0^{\varepsilon}$  are such that  $(\varepsilon^{1/2}v_0^{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1)}$  is bounded in H uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ , we conclude

$$\int_0^T \mathbb{E}[\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{\gamma}}^2] dt \lesssim 1.$$
(7.4)

#### 7.4 Convergence of $r^{\varepsilon}$

We shall prove the convergence as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ 

$$r^{\varepsilon} \to \overline{r} := \int (-C)^{-1} b(w, w) d\mu(w) \quad \text{weakly in } L^2(0, T; H^{\gamma}) \text{ in } L^1(\Omega), \tag{7.5}$$

meaning that for every  $\psi \in L^2(0,T)$  and every  $\varphi \in H^{-\gamma}$ ,

$$\int_0^T \psi \langle r^\varepsilon, \varphi \rangle dt \to \int_0^T \psi \langle \overline{r}, \varphi \rangle dt \quad \text{in } L^1(\Omega)$$

We also show that for a subsequence the convergence can be strengthened to

$$r^{\varepsilon} \to \overline{r} \qquad \text{in } H^{-\delta}(0,T;H^{\gamma-\delta}) \text{ a.s.}$$
 (7.6)

First, we recall that the uniform bound (7.4) implies for a subsequence the weak convergence of  $r^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(\Omega \times [0,T]; H^{\gamma})$ , so for (7.5) we shall identify the limit, strengthen the convergence in  $\omega$  and show that it is not necessary to pass to a subsequence. To this end, we observe that it follows from (1.7) for all  $\psi \in C_c^1((0,T))$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \psi r^{\varepsilon} dt &= \varepsilon \int_0^T \psi (-C)^{-1} A(\varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}) dt \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_0^T \psi (-C)^{-1} b(u^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon^{-1/2} w^{\varepsilon} + r^{\varepsilon}) dt + \varepsilon \int_0^T \partial_t \psi (-C)^{-1} r^{\varepsilon} dt \\ &= \int_0^T \psi (-C)^{-1} b(w^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}) dt \\ &+ \varepsilon^{1/2} \int_0^T \psi (-C)^{-1} [Aw^{\varepsilon} + b(u^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}) + b(w^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}) + b(r^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon})] dt \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_0^T \psi (-C)^{-1} [Ar^{\varepsilon} + b(u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}) + b(r^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon})] dt + \varepsilon \int_0^T \partial_t \psi (-C)^{-1} r^{\varepsilon} dt =: I_1^{\varepsilon} + \dots + I_4^{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$
In that as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ 

We claim that as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ 

$$I_1^{\varepsilon} \to \int_0^T \psi dt \overline{r} \quad \text{in } L^2(\Omega; H), \tag{7.7}$$

whereas  $I_2^{\varepsilon} + I_3^{\varepsilon} + I_4^{\varepsilon} \to 0$  in  $H^{-\theta_0}$  in  $L^1(\Omega; H^{-\theta_0})$ . For the latter convergence, we estimate by (2.3)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|I_{2}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-\theta_{0}}}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{1/2} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} \|Aw^{\varepsilon} + b(u^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}) + b(w^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}) + b(r^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon})\|_{H^{-\theta_{0}}} dt\right]$$
$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{1/2} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} (\|w^{\varepsilon}\|_{H} + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} + \|w^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} + \|r^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2}) dt\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{1/2},$$

where the implicit constant does not depend on  $\varepsilon$  and the last inequality follows from (7.1), (7.2), (7.4). Similarly,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|I_3^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-\theta_0}} + \|I_4^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-\theta_0}}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T (\|r^{\varepsilon}\|_H + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2 + \|r^{\varepsilon}\|_H^2)dt\right] \lesssim \varepsilon.$$

In order to establish (7.7), we make use of the ergodic theorem from Corollary 5.2. More precisely, we rewrite

$$I_1^{\varepsilon} = \int_0^T \psi(-C)^{-1} b(w^{\varepsilon}, w^{\varepsilon}) dt = -\int_0^T \partial_t \psi \int_0^t (-C)^{-1} b(w_s^{\varepsilon}, w_s^{\varepsilon}) ds dt$$
(7.8)

and observe that  $\tilde{w}_t = w_{\varepsilon t}^{\varepsilon}$  leads to

$$\int_0^t (-C)^{-1} b(w_s^\varepsilon, w_s^\varepsilon) ds = \varepsilon \int_0^{\varepsilon^{-1}t} (-C)^{-1} b(\tilde{w}_s, \tilde{w}_s) ds$$

Letting  $F(w) := (-C)^{-1}b(w, w)$  we see that by (2.3) F satisfies the assumption of Corollary 5.2. Hence we deduce for every  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^t (-C)^{-1} b(w_s^\varepsilon, w_s^\varepsilon) ds = t \int (-C)^{-1} b(w, w) d\mu(w) \quad \text{in } L^2(\Omega; H)$$

Plugging this into (7.8) we use (7.2) and apply dominated convergence theorem to obtain (7.7). Finally, using this together with a density argument and the uniform bound (7.4), we obtain (7.5).

We note that by weak-strong convergence this is enough to pass to the limit in the Itô-Stokes drift in (1.5), namely in the term  $b(r^{\varepsilon}, u^{\varepsilon})dt$ , provided e.g. the sequence  $u^{\varepsilon}$  converges strongly in  $L^2(0, T; H)$ a.s., which we prove in Section 8.3 below using the stochastic compactness method.

It remains to verify (7.6), i.e. to show that the convergence can be strengthened to an a.s. convergence but in a slightly worse topology. The uniform bound (7.4) implies in particular tightness of  $r^{\varepsilon}$ in  $H^{-\delta}(0,T; H^{\gamma-\delta})$  for  $\delta > 0$ . Consequently, up to a subsequence, by Skorokhod representation theorem,  $r^{\varepsilon}$  converges in law in  $H^{-\delta}(0,T; H^{\gamma-\delta})$ . Since the limit, i.e.  $\overline{r}$ , is deterministic, the convergence  $r^{\varepsilon} \to \overline{r}$  holds true in in  $H^{-\delta}(0,T; H^{\gamma-\delta})$  in probability. Hence, taking a further subsequence,  $r^{\varepsilon} \to \overline{r}$  in  $H^{-\delta}(0,T; H^{\gamma-\delta})$  a.s.

# 8 Tightness and passage to the limit

This section is devoted to the completion of the proof of Theorem 4.4, which proceeds in several steps. First, it is necessary to establish further uniform estimates in the rough path formulation (3.7). Namely, we shall prove a uniform estimate for the remainders  $u^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  as well as a uniform time regularity of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . We present these results in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 below. We note that since  $r^{\varepsilon}$  is only controlled in expectation, cf. (7.4), also the bounds from Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 are only uniform after taking expectations. This makes the final passage to the limit argument in Section 8.3 delicate.

**Remark 8.1** For future use, we recall that by (4.4) and the estimates in Section 3, we have a pathwise control of the required bounds of  $\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon}$ , namely (2.8), (2.9) and (2.12) and they hold uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ . More precisely, there exists  $K \in L^q(\Omega)$  for all  $q \in [1, \infty)$  such that **P**-a.s.

$$\|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{-n},H^{-(n+1)})}^{1/\alpha} + \|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{-n},H^{-(n+2)})}^{1/(2\alpha)} + \|\mathbb{A}_{st}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{\theta_{0}+1},L^{\infty})}^{1/(2\alpha)}$$
  
$$\lesssim (\|Y^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{C_{2}^{\alpha}([0,T];H^{\sigma})}^{1/\alpha} + \|Y^{\varepsilon,2}\|_{C_{2}^{2\alpha}([0,T];H^{\sigma}\otimes H^{\sigma})}^{1/(2\alpha)})|t-s| \leqslant K|t-s| =: \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t).$$
(8.1)

### 8.1 Uniform estimate of $u^{\varepsilon,\natural}$

For a fixed  $\varepsilon$ , the solution  $u^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the rough path form of (1.5), namely (3.7) in the sense of Definition 3.1. We know a priori that the remainder  $u^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  belongs to  $C_2^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3})$ . As a matter of fact, it is even much better as there is no rough-in-time term in (1.5). But this regularity depends on  $\varepsilon$  and we seek an estimate on  $u^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  which is uniform in  $\varepsilon$ . The equation (3.7) is very similar to the rough path formulation of the 3D Navier–Stokes equations perturbed by a transport noise in [21], see Section 2.5 and particularly (2.18) in [21]. The difference is that the drift part  $\mu^{\varepsilon}$  in our case includes the additional Itô–Stokes drift  $\mu^{\varepsilon,2}$ , while  $\mu^{\varepsilon,1}$  coincides with the drift in [21].

In Section 3 in [21] and particularly in Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 3.3, two bounds on  $\mu^{\varepsilon,1}$  were used and they are satisfied in our case as well, namely,

$$\|\delta\mu_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{H^{-1}} \lesssim \int_{s}^{t} (1+\|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}})^{2} d\tau$$

and

$$\|\delta\mu_{st}^{\varepsilon,1}\|_{H^{-\theta_0}} \lesssim |t-s|(1+\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_T H})^2.$$

In the case of  $\mu^{\varepsilon,2}$ , we estimate for a fixed  $\varepsilon$ 

$$\begin{split} |\delta\mu_{st}^{\varepsilon,2}(\varphi)| &= \left| \int_{s}^{t} \langle b(r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}, u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}), \varphi \rangle d\tau \right| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{s}^{t} \|r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H} \|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}} d\tau \\ &\lesssim \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \|r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} d\tau \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{s}^{t} \|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} d\tau \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

While a.s. the right hand side defines a control and hence  $\mu^{\varepsilon,2}$  is of finite variation e.g. in  $H^{-\theta_0+1}$  by Sobolev embedding, this control is not uniform in  $\varepsilon$ . Indeed, in view of (7.4) a uniform in  $\varepsilon$  bound can only be obtained in expectation and the a.s. bound following from (7.6) is in a worse space. Hence we prefer to use (7.4) in what follows. This is a striking difference from the setting of [21]. Another difference lies in the weaker spatial regularity of  $\mu^{\varepsilon,2}$  compared to  $\mu^{\varepsilon,1}$ , namely,  $H^{-\theta_0+1}$  instead of  $H^{-1}$ . As a consequence of this fact, we require the additional conditions on the unbounded rough driver  $(\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,1}, \mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon,2})$ , cf. (2.11), (2.12) compared to (2.10) in [21].

We denote the control associated to the  $C^{1-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-\theta_0+1})$  norm of  $\mu^{\varepsilon}$  by

$$\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) = \int_{s}^{t} (1 + \|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}})^{2} d\tau + \left(\int_{s}^{t} \|r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} d\tau\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{s}^{t} \|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} d\tau\right)^{1/2}.$$
(8.2)

With this in hand, we repeat the proof of Lemma 3.1 in [21] in order to obtain the counterpart of (3.3). Applying the increment operator  $\delta$  to (3.7) for  $s \leq \theta \leq t$  and using the Chen's relation yields

$$\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(\varphi) = \delta u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\varphi) + u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,\sharp}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}\varphi),$$

where

$$u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,\sharp} = \delta u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon} - \mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1} u_s^{\varepsilon} = \delta \mu_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon} + \mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,2} u_s^{\varepsilon} + u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,\sharp}.$$
(8.3)

To exploit the interplay between time and space regularity, we let  $(J^{\eta})_{\eta \in (0,1]}$  be a family of smoothing operators as in [21] and we split

$$\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(\varphi) = \delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}((\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi) + \delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(J^{\eta}\varphi).$$
(8.4)

In the estimate of the first term in (8.4), we make use of the middle expression in (8.3), i.e. for  $\varphi \in H^3$ ,  $\|\varphi\|_{H^3} \leq 1$ 

$$\begin{split} &|\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}((\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi)| \leqslant |\delta u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi)| + |(\delta u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon} - \mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1}u_{s}^{\varepsilon})(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi)| \\ &\leqslant \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}(\|\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi\|_{H} + \|\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi\|_{H} + \|\mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1,*}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi\|_{H}). \end{split}$$

Recalling the notation (8.1), the mollification estimates (2.7) in [21] and letting  $p = 1/\alpha$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}((\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi)| &\lesssim \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p}\|(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi\|_{H^{2}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}\|(\mathrm{Id} - J^{\eta})\varphi\|_{H^{1}}) \\ &\lesssim \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p}\eta + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}\eta^{2}). \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.5)$$

In order to estimate the second term in (8.4), we apply the expression on the very right hand side of (8.3) for  $u^{\varepsilon,\sharp}$  and we also use the equation (3.7) for  $\delta u^{\varepsilon}$ . This gives

$$\begin{split} \delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(J^{\eta}\varphi) &= \delta \mu_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}J^{\eta}\varphi) + u_{s}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1,*}\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}J^{\eta}\varphi) + u_{s}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}J^{\eta}\varphi) \\ &+ \delta \mu_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}\varphi) + u_{s}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbb{A}_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,2,*}\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}\varphi) + u_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}\varphi). \end{split}$$

Let us first focus on the terms with  $\mu^{\varepsilon,1}$ , since they did not appear in [21]. In particular, we estimate using (2.11)

$$|\delta\mu_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}J^{\eta}\varphi)| \leqslant \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) \|\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,1,*}J^{\eta}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p} \|\varphi\|_{H^{3}} \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p},$$

and similarly using (2.12)

$$\begin{split} &|\delta\mu_{s\theta}^{\varepsilon,1}(\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}J^{\eta}\varphi)| \leqslant \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) \|\mathbb{A}_{\theta t}^{\varepsilon,2,*}J^{\eta}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p} \|J^{\eta}\varphi\|_{H^{\theta_{0}+1}} \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p}\eta^{2-\theta_{0}}. \end{split}$$

The other terms can be estimated as in [21].

Recall that we aim at showing a bound of  $u^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  in  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3})$ , that is, we intend to bound the control

$$\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) := \|u^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{C_2^{p/3-\operatorname{var}}([s,t];H^{-3})}^{p/3}.$$

With this notation, we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(J^{\eta}\varphi)| &\leqslant \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p}(1+\eta^{2-\theta_{0}}) + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{3/p} \\ &+ \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{4/p}\eta^{-1} + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{3/p}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p}\eta^{-2} \\ &+ \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p} + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{3/p} + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{3/p}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}\eta^{-1} \end{split}$$

With the choice of  $\eta = \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}\lambda$  for some constant  $\lambda > 0$  to be chosen below, the above bound reads as

$$\begin{split} |\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(J^{\eta}\varphi)| &\lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{(4-\theta_{0})/p}\lambda^{2-\theta_{0}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}) \\ &+ \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{3/p}(1+\lambda^{-1}) + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{3/p}(\lambda^{-2}+\lambda^{-1}), \end{split}$$

where the implicit constant is universal and independent of  $\varepsilon, s, \theta, t$  or other data of the equations. Combining this with (8.5) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\delta u_{s\theta t}^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{H^{-3}} &\lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{(4-\theta_{0})/p}\lambda^{2-\theta_{0}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}) \\ &+ \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{3/p}(1+\lambda^{-1}+\lambda+\lambda^{2}) + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{3/p}(\lambda^{-2}+\lambda^{-1}). \end{split}$$

To get the desired estimate of  $u^{\varepsilon, \natural}$ , we require that all the terms on the right hand side are written as  $\omega(s,t)^{3/p}$  for some control  $\omega$ . Recall that for every two controls  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$ ,  $\omega_1^a \omega_2^b$  is a control provided  $a + b \ge 1$ . Thus particularly for the first term on the right hand side, we need  $1 + (4 - \theta_0)/p \ge 3/p$ . If  $\theta_0 = 1 + 3/2 + \delta$  with  $\delta > 0$  small, this boils down to  $1/p \leq 2/(3+2\delta)$  which is indeed possible for every  $p \in (2,3)$  by choosing  $\delta$  sufficiently small.

Applying the sewing lemma, Lemma B.1 in [21], we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{H^{-3}} &\lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/p} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{(4-\theta_{0})/p}\lambda^{2-\theta_{0}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}) \\ &+ \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}H}\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{3/p}(1+\lambda^{-1}+\lambda+\lambda^{2}) + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{3/p}(\lambda^{-2}+\lambda^{-1}) \end{aligned}$$

and accordingly

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) &\leqslant c [\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)^{p/3} (\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/3} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{(4-\theta_{0})/3} \lambda^{p(2-\theta_{0})/3} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/3}) \\ &+ \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}^{p/3} \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t) (1+\lambda^{-1}+\lambda+\lambda^{2})^{p/3} + \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) (\lambda^{-2}+\lambda^{-1})^{p/3}]. \end{split}$$

To close the estimate, we choose  $\lambda$  such that  $c(\lambda^{-2} + \lambda^{-1})^{p/3} = 1/2$ . Then we can absorb  $\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}$  from the right hand side into the left hand side. In addition, for the mollifier estimates, we need to guarantee  $\eta \in (0,1]$ . In view of the definition of  $\eta$  above and  $\omega_{\mathbb{A}}$  and K in (8.1) we have

$$\eta = (K|t-s|)^{1/p}\lambda.$$

Hence with the above choice of (deterministic)  $\lambda$ , there exists  $L = L(\omega)$  so that  $\eta \leq 1$  provided  $|t-s| \leq L(\omega)$ . In particular, we may choose  $L = \frac{1}{K\lambda^p} \sim \frac{1}{K}$ . This leads us to the following analog of (3.3) in [21]

$$\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)^{p/3} (\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{2/3} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{(4-\theta_0)/3} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/3}) + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}^{p/3} \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t),$$
(8.6)

which holds true provided |t - s| was sufficiently small, given by the random but  $\varepsilon$ -independent upper bound L. This is also the reason why the remainder only belongs to the local space  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T];H^{-3})$ . Finally, we note that for a given constant a > 0, it holds  $\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) \leq a$  provided  $|t-s| \leq \tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}$  where  $\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}$  is random and chosen in dependence of  $a, \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T), \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}$  and K based on (8.6) and (8.1). For instance, we may define

$$\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{K} \min\left\{ \left( \frac{a}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^{3/2}, \left( \frac{a}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^{3/(4-\theta_0)}, \left( \frac{a}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^3, \frac{a}{4\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}^{p/3}} \right\}.$$
(8.7)

#### 8.2 Uniform time regularity of $u^{\varepsilon}$

As the next step, we proceed with an analog of Lemma 3.3 in [21] proving time regularity of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . Due to the worse spatial regularity of  $\mu^{\varepsilon,2}$  we estimate only  $\omega_{u^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) := \|u\|_{C^{p-\operatorname{var}}([s,t];H^{-\theta_0+1})}^p$  as

$$\omega_{u^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) \lesssim (1 + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H})^{p} (\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) + \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)^{p} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)),$$
(8.8)

which holds true provided  $|t - s| \leq \tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}(\omega)$  for a random bound  $\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}$  given by (cf. (8.7))

$$\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{K} \min\left\{ \left( \frac{1/2^p}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^{3/2}, \left( \frac{1/2^p}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^{3/(4-\theta_0)}, \left( \frac{1/2^p}{4\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p/3}} \right)^3, \frac{1/2^p}{4\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_T H}^{p/3}}, 1/2^p \right\}.$$

Within this estimate we made use of the bound for  $\varphi \in H^{\theta_0-1}$ ,  $\|\varphi\|_{H^{\theta_0}} \leq 1$ 

$$|\delta\mu_{st}^{\varepsilon}(J^{\eta}\varphi)| \leqslant \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t) \|J^{\eta}\varphi\|_{H^{\theta_{0}-1}} \lesssim \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(s,t)$$

and we chose  $\eta = \omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t)^{1/p} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}(s,t)^{1/p}$  as in Lemma 3.3 in [21]. The requirement  $\eta \in (0,1]$  is the reason for the upper bound  $\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ .

Accordingly, we can bound

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{p-\operatorname{var}}([0,T];H^{-\theta_{0}+1})}^{p} = \sup_{\pi \in \mathcal{P}([0,T])} \sum_{(s,t) \in \pi} \|\delta u_{st}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-\theta_{0}+1}}^{p},$$

where the supremum is taken over all partitions  $\pi$  of the interval [0, T]. Here, we can apply (8.8) whenever the mesh size of a partition  $\pi$  is at most  $\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}$ . If the mesh size of  $\pi$  is bigger, we can refine it so that the sum of norms of increments is bounded by a sum over the finer partition times an implicit constant which is at most  $(T/\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon})^p$ . We deduce

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{p-\operatorname{var}}([0,T];H^{-\theta_{0}+1})}^{p} \lesssim \left(\frac{T}{\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}}\right)^{p} (1+\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H})^{p} (\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(0,T)+\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{p}+\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(0,T)),$$

and we used the fact that controls are super-additive and for a control  $\omega$  and  $a \ge 1$ , also  $\omega^a$  is a control, i.e. super-additive.

In view of (8.2), (8.6), (7.1) and (7.4) and using the form of  $\tilde{L}^{\varepsilon}$  we therefore obtain for some  $\kappa > 0$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{p-\operatorname{var}}([0,T];H^{-\theta_{0}+1})}^{\kappa}\right] \lesssim_{T} (1+\|u^{\varepsilon}_{0}\|_{H})^{\kappa}$$
$$\times \mathbb{E}[K^{\kappa}(\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{\kappa p/2}+\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{\kappa p/(4-\theta_{0})}+\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{\kappa p}+\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}H}^{\kappa p/3})$$
$$\times (\omega_{\varepsilon,\natural}(0,T)^{\kappa/p}+\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{\kappa}+\omega_{\mathbb{A}}(0,T)^{\kappa/p})].$$

The reason we included  $\kappa$  is to guarantee the integrability of  $\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}$  which due to the limited bound of  $r^{\varepsilon}$  only admits the second moment (cf. (7.4) and (8.2)). Choosing  $\kappa$  small enough, recalling that K and  $\omega_{\mathbb{A}}$  admit moments of all orders by Remark 8.1, we further estimate as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{p-\operatorname{var}}([0,T];H^{-\theta_0+1})}^{\kappa}\right] \lesssim 1 + \mathbb{E}[\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^2] \lesssim 1,$$
(8.9)

where we bounded uniformly in  $\varepsilon$  as follows

$$\mathbb{E}[\omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T)^{2}] \lesssim \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{T} (1+\|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}})^{2} d\tau\right)^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} d\tau \int_{0}^{T} \|u_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} d\tau\right]$$
$$\lesssim 1 + \|u_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{4} + \|u_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} \|r_{\tau}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H}^{2} d\tau\right] \lesssim 1.$$

This shows a uniform bound of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  in  $C^{p-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-\theta_0+1})$ , which by Markov inequality readily implies tightness of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  needed in the next section.

#### 8.3 Passage to the limit

With the above results at hand, we are able to perform the final passage to the limit in the rough path formulation (3.7) of (1.5) and obtain a probabilistically weak rough path solution to (1.9) in the sense of Definition 4.3. This will complete the proof of our main result, Theorem 4.4.

Even though a number of terms converge directly on any given probability space where the approximate system is solved, for  $u^{\varepsilon}$  we only obtain uniform estimates implying compactness. Recall also that the bound of  $r^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(0,T; H^{\gamma})$  and consequently also the time regularity of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  as well as the bound for the remainder  $u^{\varepsilon, \natural}$  are only uniform in  $\varepsilon$  after taking expectations.

We base our compactness argument on Jakubowski–Skorokhod's representation theorem and change the probability space. We use Jakubowski–Skorokhod's representation theorem instead of the classical Skorokhod's representation theorem as one of our function spaces below is not Polish, but falls in the category of the so-called sub-Polish space where Jakubowski–Skorokhod's theorem applies, see Section 2.7 in [4] for more details.

More precisely, we claim that the above results imply tightness of  $(u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, Q^{1/2}W^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  in the path space

$$\mathcal{X} := (C_{\text{weak}}([0,T];H) \cap L^2(0,T;H)) \times (L^2(0,T;H^{\gamma}), w) \times C([0,T];H) \times \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T];H^{\sigma})$$

where  $(L^2(0,T;H^{\gamma}),w)$  denotes  $L^2(0,T;H^{\gamma})$  equipped with the weak topology. Indeed, the tightness of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  follows from (7.1) and (8.9) by Lemma A.2 in [21], the tightness of  $r^{\varepsilon}$  is a consequence of (7.3) since bounded sets are relatively compact with respect to the weak topology, the tightness of  $Q^{1/2}W^{\varepsilon}$  is immediate since the law does not depend on  $\varepsilon$ , and the tightness of the rough path  $(Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$  follows from Theorem 4.1.

Accordingly, Jakubowski–Skorokhod's representation theorem yields a subsequence (still indexed by  $\varepsilon$  for notational simplicity) and a new probability space  $(\bar{\Omega}, \bar{\mathcal{F}}, \overline{P})$  with  $\mathcal{X}$ -valued random variables  $(\bar{u}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{r}^{\varepsilon}, Q^{1/2} \bar{W}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,1}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,2})$  and  $(\bar{u}, \bar{\bar{r}}, Q^{1/2} \bar{W}, \bar{Y}^1, \bar{Y}^2)$  such that  $\overline{P}$ -a.s.

$$\left(\bar{u}^{\varepsilon},\bar{r}^{\varepsilon},Q^{1/2}\bar{W}^{\varepsilon},\bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,1},\bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,2}\right)\to\left(\bar{u},\overline{\bar{r}},Q^{1/2}\bar{W},\bar{Y}^{1},\bar{Y}^{2}\right)\qquad\text{in}\qquad\mathcal{X}$$

Then  $(\bar{u}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{r}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,1}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,2})$  satisfies (3.7). For a detailed argument identifying the rough path  $(\bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,1}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,2})$ we refer to Step 2 in the proof of Proposition 15 in [14]. Consequently, we obtain also the analogous estimate to (8.6) for the corresponding remainder  $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  on the new probability space. Here  $\omega_{\mathbb{A}^{\varepsilon}}, \omega_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}$ are replaced by their counterparts on the new probability space defined as in (8.1) and (8.2) using  $(\bar{u}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{r}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,1}, \bar{Y}^{\varepsilon,2})$  in place of  $(u^{\varepsilon}, r^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon,1}, Y^{\varepsilon,2})$ . The result of Theorem 4.1 also holds true on the new probability space.

One significant difference now follows from the  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. convergence of  $\overline{r}^{\varepsilon}$ : in comparison to (7.3) we gained the following  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. uniform bound for  $\overline{r}^{\varepsilon}$ :

$$\int_0^T \|\bar{r}^\varepsilon\|_{H^\gamma}^2 dt \leqslant N \tag{8.10}$$

for some random and  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. finite constant  $N = N(\bar{\omega}) > 0$ . We employ this fact below to obtain the desired regularity of the limit remainder.

Now, we can pass to the limit in (3.7). First, we note that all the terms except for the remainder  $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}$ converge  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. to the desired limits. More precisely, based on the strong convergence in  $L^2(0,T;H)$  of  $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon}$  we are able to pass to the limit in the Stokes as well as the convective term and combined with the weak convergence of  $\bar{r}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(0,T;H^{\gamma})$  we also pass to the limit in the Itô–Stokes drift. As in Section 7.4 we obtain that  $r^{\varepsilon} \to \bar{r}$  weakly in  $L^2(0,T;H^{\gamma})$   $\overline{P}$ -a.s., where  $\bar{r}$  is deterministic and time independent, hence  $\bar{r} = \bar{\bar{r}}$ . This identifies the Itô–Stokes drift velocity in (1.9). The identification of the driving rough path  $(\bar{Y}^1, \bar{Y}^2)$  as the corresponding lift of  $\bar{B} = (-C)^{-1}Q^{1/2}\bar{W}$  follows as in Theorem 4.1.

Accordingly, also  $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon, \natural}$  converges  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. to some  $\bar{u}^{\natural}$  satisfying the formula from Definition 4.3. Now, it only remains to prove that  $\bar{u}^{\natural}$  is an honest remainder, namely, it belongs to  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3})$  $\overline{P}$ -a.s.

Recall Remark 8.1 and note that the analogous claim also holds true on the new probability space. We denote the random constant analogous to K as  $\bar{K}$  and denote by  $\bar{L} \sim 1/\bar{K}$  the constant determining the length of admissible intervals in the counterpart of (8.6) on the new probability space. Let  $I = I(\bar{\omega}) = [\sigma(\bar{\omega}), \tau(\bar{\omega})] \subset [0, T]$  be an arbitrary random time interval of length at most  $\bar{L}(\omega)$ . Then by the analogous estimate to (8.6) and (8.2) on the new probability space, (7.1) and (8.10), we have the uniform  $\bar{P}$ -a.s. bound

$$\|\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{C_2^{p/3-\operatorname{var}}(I;H^{-3})} = \bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}(\sigma,\tau)^{3/p} \lesssim 1 + \bar{\omega}_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}(0,T) \leqslant M,$$
(8.11)

where M is random and  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. finite and  $\bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}$  and  $\bar{\omega}_{\mu^{\varepsilon}}$ , respectively, denote the controls associated to the remainder  $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}$  and the drift  $\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}$  defined as in (3.6) but on the new probability space.

Based on this, we can use lower semicontinuity to conclude that  $\overline{u}^{\natural}$  is  $\overline{P}$ -a.s. a remainder, namely, it belongs to  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T]; H^{-3}) \overline{P}$ -a.s. Fix an arbitrary  $\overline{\omega}$ . Then it holds for every smooth  $\varphi$  and every  $s, t \in I(\overline{\omega})$  (all random variables in the sequel are implicitly evaluated at  $\overline{\omega}$ )

$$|\bar{u}_{st}^{\natural}(\varphi)| = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} |\bar{u}_{st}^{\varepsilon,\natural}(\varphi)| \leqslant \|\varphi\|_{H^3} \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{C_2^{p/3-\operatorname{var}}([s,t];H^{-3})},$$

which implies

$$\|\bar{u}_{st}^{\natural}\|_{H^{-3}}^{p/3} \leqslant \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\natural}\|_{C_2^{p/3-\operatorname{var}}([s,t];H^{-3})}^{p/3} = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t).$$

If  $\pi$  is partition of  $I(\bar{\omega})$ , then by Fatou's lemma, superadditivity of  $\bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}$  and (8.11), we obtain

$$\sum_{(s,t)\in\pi} \|\bar{u}_{st}^{\natural}\|_{H^{-3}}^{p/3} \leqslant \liminf_{\varepsilon\to 0} \sum_{(s,t)\in\pi} \bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}(s,t) = \liminf_{\varepsilon\to 0} \bar{\omega}_{\varepsilon,\natural}(\sigma,\tau) \leqslant M,$$

hence finally

$$\|\bar{u}^{\natural}\|_{C_{2}^{p/3-\mathrm{var}}(I;H^{-3})}^{p/3} = \sup_{\pi \in \mathcal{P}(I)} \sum_{(s,t)\in \pi} \|\bar{u}_{st}^{\natural}\|_{H^{-3}}^{p/3} \leqslant M.$$

Accordingly, we deduce that  $\bar{u}^{\natural}$  belongs to  $C_{2,\text{loc}}^{p/3-\text{var}}([0,T];H^{-3})$   $\overline{P}$ -a.s., meaning there is a set  $\bar{\Omega}_0 \subset \bar{\Omega}$  of full probability  $\overline{P}$  and a random covering  $(I_k)_{k=1,\ldots,[T/\bar{L}]}$  of [0,T] such that for every  $\bar{\omega} \in \bar{\Omega}_0$  we have  $\bar{u}^{\natural}(\bar{\omega}) \in C_2^{p/3-\text{var}}(I_k(\bar{\omega});H^{-3})$  for every  $k=1,\ldots,[T/\bar{L}]$ . Thus, we have proved that (1.9) is satisfied by  $(\bar{u},\bar{B})$  in the sense of Definition 4.3. The proof of

Thus, we have proved that (1.9) is satisfied by  $(\bar{u}, B)$  in the sense of Definition 4.3. The proof of Theorem 4.4 is therefore complete.

## References

 Werner Bauer, Pranav Chandramouli, Bertrand Chapron, Long Li, and Etienne Mémin. Deciphering the role of small-scale inhomogeneity on geophysical flow structuration: a stochastic approach. *Journal of Physical Oceanography*, 50(4):983–1003, 2020.

- [2] Dallas Albritton, Elia Brué, and Maria Colombo. Non-uniqueness of Leray solutions of the forced Navier–Stokes equations, Annals of Math., 196, 415–455, 2022.
- [3] Ismael Bailleul and Massimiliano Gubinelli. Unbounded rough drivers. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6), 26(4):795-830, 2017.
- [4] Dominic Breit, Eduard Feireisl, and Martina Hofmanová. *Stochastically forced compressible fluid flows*. De Gruyter Series in Applied and Numerical Mathematics 3. De Gruyter, Berlin, 2018.
- [5] Zdzisław Brzeźniak, Marek Capinski, and Franco Flandoli. Stochastic Navier-Stokes equations with multiplicative noise. *Stochastic Anal. Appl.*, 10(5):523–532, 1992.
- [6] Tristan Buckmaster, and Vlad Vicol. Nonuniqueness of weak solutions to the Navier–Stokes equation. Ann. of Math. (2), 189(1):101–144, 2019.
- [7] Giuseppe Da Prato, and Jerzy Zabczyk. Ergodicity for infinite dimensional systems. Vol. 229. Cambridge university press, 1996.
- [8] Giuseppe Da Prato, and Jerzy Zabczyk. Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions, volume 152 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Second edition, 2014.
- [9] Arnaud Debussche and Umberto Pappalettera. Second order perturbation theory of two-scale systems in fluid dynamics. J. Eur. Math. Soc., published online first, 2024.
- [10] Aurélien Deya, Massimiliano Gubinelli, Martina Hofmanová, and Samy Tindel. A priori estimates for rough PDEs with application to rough conservation laws. J. Funct. Anal., 276(12):3577–3645, 2019.
- [11] Klaus-Jochen Engel, and Rainer Nagel. A short course on operator semigroups. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [12] Franco Flandoli, Lucio Galeati, and Dejun Luo. Delayed blow-up by transport noise. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 46, 2021.
- [13] Franco Flandoli and Dariusz Gatarek. Martingale and stationary solutions for stochastic Navier-Stokes equations. Probab. Th. Rel. Fields, 102:367–391, 1995.
- [14] Franco Flandoli, Martina Hofmanová, Dejun Luo, and Torstein Nilssen. Global well-posedness of the 3D Navier-Stokes equations perturbed by a deterministic vector field. Ann. Appl. Probab., 32(4):2568–2586, 2022.
- [15] Franco Flandoli and Dejun Luo. High mode transport noise improves vorticity blow-up control in 3D Navier-Stokes equations. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, 180:309–363, 2021.
- [16] Franco Flandoli, and Umberto Pappalettera. 2D Euler equations with Stratonovich transport noise as a large-scale stochastic model reduction. J. Nonlinear Sci., 31(1):24, 2021.
- [17] Franco Flandoli, and Umberto Pappalettera. From additive to transport noise in 2D fluid dynamics. Stoch. PDE: Anal. Comp., 10(3):964–1004, 2022.
- [18] Peter K. Friz and Martin Hairer. A course on rough paths. Universitext. Springer, Cham, 2014. With an introduction to regularity structures.
- [19] Lucio Galeati. On the convergence of stochastic transport equations to a deterministic parabolic one. Stoch. Partial Differ. Equ. Anal. Comput. 8, no. 4, 833–868, 2020.
- [20] Dan Henry. *Geometric theory of semilinear parabolic equations*. Springer Lecture Notes in Mathematics, volume 840. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 1981.

- [21] Martina Hofmanová, James-Michael Leahy, and Torstein Nilssen. On the Navier-Stokes equation perturbed by rough transport noise. J. Evol. Equ., 19(1):203–247, 2019.
- [22] Martina Hofmanová, James-Michael Leahy, and Torstein Nilssen. On a rough perturbation of the Navier-Stokes system and its vorticity formulation. Ann. Appl. Probab., 31(2):736–777, 2021.
- [23] Martina Hofmanová, Umberto Pappalettera, Rongchan Zhu, and Xiangchan Zhu. Anomalous and total dissipation due to advection by solutions of randomly forced Navier-Stokes equations. *ArXiv:2305.08090*, 2023.
- [24] Martina Hofmanová, Rongchan Zhu, and Xiangchan Zhu. Non-uniqueness in law of stochastic 3D Navier–Stokes equations. Journal of the European Mathematical Society, 26 (1), 163–260, 2024.
- [25] Darryl D. Holm. Variational principles for stochastic fluid dynamics. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 471(2176):20140963, 2015.
- [26] Andrew J. Majda, Ilya Timofeyev, and Eric Vanden Eijnden. A mathematical framework for stochastic climate models. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 54(8):891–974, 2001.
- [27] Etienne Mémin. Fluid flow dynamics under location uncertainty. Geophysical & Astrophysical Fluid Dynamics 108(2):119–146, 2014.
- [28] Remigijus Mikulevicius, and Boris L. Rozovskii. Stochastic Navier–Stokes equations for turbulent flows. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 35(5):1250–1310, 2004.
- [29] George C. Papanicolaou, Daniel Stroock, and Srinivasa R. S. Varadhan. Martingale approach to some limit theorems. *Duke turbulence conference*, 3:1–120, 1988.
- [30] Michael Reed, and Barry Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. vol. 1. Functional analysis. San Diego: Academic, 1980.
- [31] Roger Temam, Navier-Stokes equations and nonlinear functional analysis. volume 41 of CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1983.